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LETTER

Healthcare in the UK is manifestly under significant pressure.

Rises in patient demand, the challenges of government budgets,
technological change and an overdue shift towards more integrated
healthcare are changing how healthcare services are managed. These
create opportunities as well as challenges for Circle, but we believe
the group is well-placed to capitalise on them.

Last year, 2016, was a busy year for Circle. White our financial results
were not as strong as we would have liked, due to operational
matters discussed in the CEQ's report, it was a very important year
in terrms of positioning the group for the future. As | mentioned

in last year’s report, we concluded an extensive review of our
business. Consequently the past year resuited in some of the
identified opportunities coming to fruition, with the group adopting
an increasing emphasis towards more capitai-efficient activities,
including service provision and rehabilitation.

Our partnership with one of the leading European renabilitation
providers, VAMED, signed in December 2016, is a direct outcome of
our strategic review and is potentially a game-changer for the group.
Rehabilitation services are a critical missing piece in UK healthcare,
Qur joint venture, Circle Rehabilitation, seeks to position itself at

the forefront of filling this important gap. It will provide patients
who have undergone, for example, @8 musculoskeletal operation or
have a neurological condition the opportunity to accelerate their
recovery or manage their condition more effectively. It will help
many patients to be fit enough to have the independence of living at
home, rather than be sent to care homes or remain as *bed blockers”
in acute hospitals. Our pilot rehabilitation centre is already open in
Reading and treating patients.

The widespread recognition is that state of-the-art rebabititation

is an important void across the UK healthcare economy, and this
initiative is providing us with a much more open door to discuss
partnerships and service provision with the public sector. There is
demonstrably more engagement compared with some of the other
services we offer, as the potential for this style of rehabilitation to
improve the efficient flow of patients through NHS hospitals

is substantiai.

Our successful stewardship of the Bedfordshire MSK pathway,

on behalf of local NHS commissioners, provided us with the
opportunity in August 2076 to become preferred bidder for
managing the MSK services in Greenwich and Lewisham. We were
delighted to have finalised this partnership in March 2017 and are
looking to add further scale in this area,

The formalisation of our Chinese joint venture, Circle Harmony,
affords us exciting entry into a huge healthcare market. We are
expecting Circle Harmoeny's first facility in Shanghai, along with our
ctinical partnership with the Ruijin Hospital, to be complete in the
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third quarter of 2017 The investment commitment has come frem
private and state investors in China and the objective is to create a
netwark of small facilities aimed at the premium end of the market.
This jeint venture was announced in June 2016,

As | mentioned last year, we had expected to commence
construction of Circle Birmingham Haspital in 2016. The detailed
planning and design was delayed to accommodate our entry into
rehabititation, and construction will now commence imminently.
This exciting new project will also lock to incorporate a purpose built
Rehabilitation facility.

The realisation of full value for our land in Manchester, announced
in February 2017, will enable the group to reallocate these funds to
more capital efficient activities.

In November, Steve Melton stood down as CEQ, The board is
grateful to him for his work and his dedication to the group, which
he joined in 2008, and wish him well for the future. The board was
unanimous in support of Paolo Pieri to take on the CEQ role at a
time when the group is well-positicned to build on its core expertise,
to execute the new initiatives and 1o achieve greater scale.

A strategic challenge for the board and management is the highty
concentrated shareholder register that results in inadequate liquidity
in our shares. Mindful of this, the board regularly cansiders the
options available to mitigate this situation, with a view to enhancing
sharebolder value,

Finally, let me thank cur patients and partners for their support and
loyalty over the past year. Last year 346,904 patients came through
our doors, up 2 percent on the previous year, and the feedback we
have received from them is outstanding. The commitment and hard
work of Circle’s partners — from consultant surgeons and nurses to
hospitality staff — continues to be recognised in our exceptional
patient satisfaction levels, All of our facilities across our estate

have consistently good Care Quality Commission ratings. We thank
them for their trust and support. Likewise, | must thank my board
colleagues for their wise counsel and commitment over the

past year.

)/Q Ny

Michael Kirkwood CMG
Chairman
28 March 201/

1



EN

Circle’'s commercial agenda is a simple one: to increase scale.

We have developed a range of core competencies, in hospital
management, contracting for healthcare services and we are now
introducing mainstream medical rehabilitation, We are building
on these platforms already in 2017 with our next hospital, in
Birmingham, our Greenwich MSK contract and the signing of our
rehabilitation joint venture.

in terms of performance in 2016, there were a number of issues
affecting our results that are being resolved. We had inpatient
staffing shortages at Circle Bath Hospital, which meant high
agency usage and mid-year there was an impact of the lengthier
than planned engagement process with our consultants prior to
the introduction of new NHS fees. With those behind us, I am
pleased to say that we are seeing a more positive financial trend to
the start of 2017

Cur joint venture with the European rehabilitation specialists
VAMED to form Circle Rehabilitation is significant. We have a pilot
rehabilitation centre now running in Reading, and our plan is to
add a 120-bed rehabilitation centre to our future private hospital in
Birmingham. However, the great growth potential here is to build
dedicated rehabilitation hospitals close to large NHS trusts.

At present, NHS trusts are unable to deal with the flow of patients
through their hospitals because there are too many patients left
in precious beds unnecessarily because they are not yet fit to go
home. A 500-bed NHS trust could save millions of pounds a year
by moving patients to dedicated rehabilitation facilities, using the

latest technology, which would give them better patient outcomes.

We were recently awarded the contract to manage the Creenwich
musculoskeletal service, on behalf of local NHS commissioners.
The five year contract, which is renewable for up to a further two

B CHIEF EXECUTIVE
M OFFICER’S REPORT

years, is worth £84.7m and we will be responsible for serving
276,000 Greenwich residents. This achievement is a reflection
of the success we have made of running a similar service in
Bedfordshire. We believe there will be other opportunities in the
future to expand this to other localities.

Circle's 20-year management agreement with Chinese investors
was signed in summer 2016 reflecting the expertise that Circle
has built up in running private hospitals. We expect to see good
developments in this venture in tha coming year.

We continue to examine ways to increase efficiencies across our
business. For example, new inpatient beds in our Nottingham
Treatment Centre, which we run on behalf of the NHS, have
increased utilisation in this already busy hospital. At the same
time, the group has added to its cash position, after selling its
Manchester land at the end of January 2017 for a premium above
book value.

In closing, | must thank the contributions Circle partners have
made during 2016. Their focus and determination to ensure our
patients receive better quality healthcare never tires and our
overall "good” CQC ratings along with our consistently high
patient satisfacticn rates are proof that we are achieving what
we always set out to do; to deliver a great company dedicated
to our patients.

LA

Paolo Pieri
Chief Executive Officer
28 March 2017



ARBILIAL RERGRT AND TINAROIAL STATEMERTS 2015 3




P il Moo cadn L

Financial review

2016 has been a year of continued financial progress in the face of
some operational difficulties, We maintained revenue growth and
improved gross profit margins across atl sites, Combined with an
exceptional gain of £2.2 million, this resulted in a 30% reduction
in total losses.

The Group generated an operating loss before exceptional and
Project Reset” items of £7.0 million, an improvement of 12% on
2015. The financial progress made in 2016 has been encouraging
whilst extremely high patient satisfaction levels of 98% have
been achieved.

Patient Procedures

Year ta Year (o
3-Dec-16 31-Dec-15
Number Number Change
D
bay case and 50,085 48,433 5%
inpatients
Qutpatients 295,919 292,472 1%
Total procedures 346,904 340,905 2%

Patient volumes have shown good growth across the Group
versus 2015, This is largely due to an increase in NHS volumes
with patients requiring both Inpatient and Day case procedures
selecting Circle as their healthcare provider of choice. We have
also seen an encouraging 23% rise in self-pay votumes this year,

Overall PMI volumes have fallen compared to prior year, an area in
which we had not expected growth.

The most encouraging growth in admitted patient care is at Circle
Nottingham which has achieved year on year growth in this area of
7%. Total volume growth (including Outpatient activity) at Circle
Bath grew by 3% to 50,503, Circle Reading increased by 1% to
65,050 and Circle Nottingham increased by 2% to 231,351

CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER'S REPORT

Although the growth achieved has not quite been the ievel that
we had anticipated we are encouraged by the continuing steady
growth at all of our hospital sites. Good progress has been made
on all operational issues, and with a clear plan for revenue growth
and further efficiencies, we are on track for strong resuits in our
core business during 2017, along with new opportunities in our
MSK Service and Rehabilitation partnership coming on stream.

Group results

EBITDAR (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation
and Rent) increased by 30% this year to £7.2 million, and continuing
the trend of positive growth from 2015, 2016 EBITDA (Earnings
Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) {oss before
exceptional items and Reset costs reduced by 36% as the Group
continued to grow in its core operations while achieving operating
efficiencies.

Revenue increase for the year was 4% reflecting the strength of
our core business. Volume increases accounted for 2% of this with
improved complexity and case mix accounting for the remainder.

Gross margin, whilst not as high as anticipated, has been improved
from 29% to 30%. One-off operational issues at Bath and Reading,
including inpatient staffing shortages, high agency usage and the
impact of a delay to the renegotiation of censultant NHS activity
fees, all contributed in varying degrees to this during the year,

Cash balance as at end of December was £7.4 million (2015:
£15.0 million) with no restricted cash reserves. The sale of the
land in Manchester increased this balance by a further £9.1m
during January 2017.

The Company issued further allocations of options under its
Partnership Incentive Plan (PIP) share schemes during 2016.
The total share option charge recognised in 2016 amounted
to £2.8 million.
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Year to Year to

31-Dec-16 31-Dec-15 Difference

£'000 £000 £'000 % Difference
Group revenue 133,452 127,790 5,662 4%
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and rent 7166 5530 1636 30%
{'EBITDAR" before exceptional items and Project Reset charge ’ ' ’ ?
Earnings befo.re |ntgrest, tax, depreuat:on and amortisation ('EBITDA') (37145) (4,915) 1770 36%
before excepticnal items and Project Reset charge
Total operating loss before exceptional iterns and Project Reset iterns (6,978) (7.967) 989 12%
Exceptional items 2,181 (389) 2,570 661%
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the financial year {8131) (11,6586) 3,525 30%
Net assets 20,033 25,41 {5,378) (21%)
With the aid of future plans to maximise scale and alsc current Cash flow

strategies to attract more patients, and improve efficiencies
whilst simultanecusly maintaining our high quality clinical care,
we are confident that we have the resources to achieve
sustainable growth.

Exceptional ltems

During 2016, a net exceptional gain of £2.2 million was recognised
in relation to an impairment reversal on land in Manchester.

This tand was purchased in 2011 and impaired in 2012 following
an external valuation. At the year end we had made significant
progress with a buyer at a significantly higher value than the
carrying value, therefore the impairment was reversed.

This transaction was then completed during January 2017

at a sale price of £6.1 million.

Net cash cutflow from operating activities amounted to
£1.3 million (2015: £4.6 million} showing an improverment
on prior year as a result of improved operational performance.

At 31 December 2016, the only borrowings refate to finance leases
of clinical equipment. Our cash flow forecasts have been prepared
based on the expected cash flows from the Group’s existing
operating businesses and the commitments associated with

new projects as discussed in the Chairman’s and CEQ's reports.
Following the sale of the land in Manchester as mentioned above,
the Croup is in a strong cash position and has sufficient funding to
carry out its current business plans.

Sarah Marston
Interim Chief Financial Officer
28 Maren #0717/

* - Project Reset stenns relate to the IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for share options granted te Circle employees and clinical partners.



BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

MICHAEL KIRKWOOD CMG
Chanman {hy, (]

Michael Kirkwood is an Economics
and Industrial Engineering
graduate of Stanford University
and a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Bankers. He joined
the Board of Circle Holdings plc
as Chairman in June 2011, He

is additionally Senior Advisor
{formerly Chairman) of Ondra Partners LLP, a nan-executive director
of AngloGold Ashanti Limited, and an Emeritus Director (formerly
Chairman) of British American Business inc.

Michael joined Citigroup in 1977 from where he retired at the end
of 2008. Prior to Citigroup, he spent a number of years in Asia with
Bowater-Ralli Group, having started his career at HSBC. He was
previously a non-executive director of UK Finandial Investments Ltd
{UKFI), Eros International ple, Kidde ple and Beputy Chairman of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP's Advisory Board. He is a member of
the Advisory Board of the Association of Corporate Treasurers and

a patron of poverty housing charity, Habitat for Humanity. During
his City career, he served as Deputy Chairman of the British Bankers
Assaciation, President of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, Chairman
of the Associaticn of Foreign Banks, and as a member of the CBI's
Financial Services Council.

A Freeman and former HM Lieutenant for the City of London in 2004,
Michael was appointed a Cormpanion of the Order of St Michael and St
George (CMG) in HM The Queen's 2003 Birthday Honours.

PAOLO PIERI

Cheel cxecntive Oflicor

Paolo Pieri was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer in December
2016, after previously holding

the role of Chief Financiat Officer
since jeining Circle in 2010. Prior
to Circle he spent over five years
at lastminute.com where he spent
the majority of this time as the
UK Finance Director, subsequently taking on a nurnber of operational
rotes, including the Managing Director of seme European divisions.

Previously, Paolo spent seven years in the Virgin organisation,
principally within the retail and cinema operations, where he spent
three years as Finance Director of the Virgin Megastore business.

Paolo has a Bachelor of Accountancy from Clasgow University, and
is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants for Scotland.

PR MASS0OUD FOULADE

Chiel Medieal O icor

Dr. Masscud Fouladiis a
co-founder of Circle and Group
Medical Director. He also serves as
the initial director representative
of Circle Partnership Benefit Trust.

Massoud graduated from

Bristol Medicat School in 1590
and completed his ophthalmology training at Birmingham and
Midland Eye Centre in 1999. He was also awarded a Masters in Health
Services Management by Birmingham Health Services Management
Centre in 1998.

In 2001, Masscud feunded the Ophthalmic Clinical Leads Forum at the
King's Fund. He was Chairman of the Association of Ophthalmologists
UK from 2003 to 2007, He remains an active consultant specialising in
ophthalmic surgery.

LORRAINE BALDRY ORL
MNan-Fxecutive [Directol

{a), (b) | {c}

Lomraine Baldry is Chairman of
London and Continental Railways
Limited, Schroders Real Estate
Investment Trust and Inventa
Partners Limited. She is also a
Board member of Thames Water

- Utilities Ltd. She was previously
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of DTZ Holdings pic, and
Chairman of the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation.

Prior to that, Lorraine was Chief Executive of Chesterton International
plc, & senior advisor at Morgan Stanley, investment banking division,
and Managing Director and a member of the Executive Committee of
Regus. Larraine joined Regus from Prudential Corporation where she
held a number of posts, including Managing Director of Prudential
Carporate Pensions, Chief Operating Officer of Prudential Portfolio
Managers (now M&G), and Managing Director of its property
investment division.

She was awarded OBE in the Queen’s Jubilee Honours, and is an
Henorary Member of the Royal Instituticn of Chartered Surveyors
and a past president of the British Property Federation.




LORD HUTTON OF FURNESS
Fon-tee Catige Director (b 1)

Lord Hutton served as a member
of the British House of Commons
from 1992 to 2010. During his
time in government, he held
several prominent Cabinet
positions, including Secretary

of State for defence; business,
enterprise and regulatory reform;
and work and pensions. Lord Hutton was also a minister in the UK
Department of Health from 1998 to 2005, where he helped lead

the modernisation of the National Health Service. Prior to public
service, Lord Hutton worked as a senior law lecturer at Northumbria
University, and served as a legal adviser to the Confederation of British
Industry. Between 2010 and 2017, Lord Hutton was the Chairman of
the Independent Public Service Pensions Commission.

He is currentty Chairman of the Nuclear Industry Association, a non-
executive director of Sirius Minerals plc, Arix Bioscience plc and Byhiras
Ltd. Lord Hutton also hoids advisory positions at Bechtel Corperation
and Lockheed Martin. Lord Hutton graduated from Magdalen College,
Oxford University, in 1978 with an MA and a Bachelor in Civil Law.

JUSTIN JEWITT

Non-txecutive Director (a)

Justin Jewitt has extensive
commercial knowledge and
practical experience in the delivery
and creation of public and private
health services. He graduated
from Leicester University in

1575, joining Mobil Oil Company
Limited as a graduate trainee,
where he occupied various roles for 12 years. In 1986, he joined Thom
Emi plc in their retail/rental division, moving through various senior
rmanagement roles,

In 1992, Justin became Managing Director of two B.E.T. pic companies,
Laundrycraft and Initial Healthcare {Textile) Ltd. justin joined Nestor
Healthcare Group plc in 1994, where he worked for 10 years as Chief
Executive Officer of the Group, building it into a FTSE 250 listed
company. Justin also held several non-executive director positions

in both private and public healthcare companies. justin is currently a
visiting professor for the Welsh Institute for Health and Social Care,
University of South Wales, a member on the Quality Committee of an
NHS CCG, and a senior independent director of NHS Shared Business
Services Ltd.
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ANDREW SHILSTON

Mon-Lxegutive Diectnn ()7, (), (o)

Andrew Shilston graduated

from the University of Oxford in
1977 with an MA in Engineering
Sciences, and is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants
of England and Wales and a Fellow
of the Association of Corporate
Treasurers.

Andrew joined Rolis-Royce Group ple in 2002 and was appointed
Croup Finance Directar in 2003, where he remained until 2011,

He was Finance Director at Enterprise Oil Ltd from 1993 to 2002.
Andrew was an independent non-executive director of Cairn Energy
plc between 2004 and 2008, and is currently Chairman of Morgan
Advanced Materials plc and Independent Non-Executive and Senior
Independent Director of BP plc.

fa)  Member of Audit and Risk Conmmittee,
b} Member of Remuneration Committee.
{c) Member of Nomination Commitlee,

-

Denotes Chair of respeclive commitlec,
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REPORT

The directors present their Annual Report and audited financial
statements for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.




Directors’ report
The Directors present their Annual Report and audited financial
statements for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial
statements of Circle Holdings plc (the 'Company') and its
subsidiary undertakings ("subsidiaries’) drawn up to 31 Decernber
2016. Together these make up 'Circle’ or the 'Group’.

Principal activities

The Group is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, treating
privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients. The Group’s
business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to
deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors, nurses and all
other staff who work in our hospitals and treatment centres, to put
patients' needs first.

Business review

The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business
review can be found in the CEO report and CFO report on pages
2to 5. Information on environmental matters, employees,
community and social issues is given in the Report on Corporate
Covernance on pages 12 to 15,

Results and dividends

The total loss for the financial year amounted to £8,131,0600 (2015
£11,656,000). The Directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividends (2015: £nil).

Cash flow

The total cash balance at 31 December 2016 is £7,431,000 (2015
£14,998,000). Net cash used in operating activities totalled
£1,328,000 (2015: £4,642,000).

Share capital and control

As at 31 Decemnber 2016, the Company's authorised share capital
comprised 325,000,000 (2015: 325,000,000) ordinary shares

of £0.02, 12,500,000 (2015: 12,500,000) convertible shares

(18 months) of £0.02 each, and 12,500,000 (2015: 12,500,000}
convertible shares (18 months) of £0.02 each, of which 247,797,188
(2015: 247,797,188) (note 22) were in issue. Shareholders are
entitled to receive the Company’s Annual Report and Financial
Statements, to attend and speak at General Meetings, to appoint
proxies and exercise voting rights. The Campany's shares do not
carry any special rights with regard to control of the Company.
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The appeintment and replacement of directors is governed by the
Company's Artictes of Association. Any changes to the Articles of
Association must be approved by the shareholders in accordance
with the legislation in force at the time. The directors have
authority to issue and allot ordinary shares pursuant to Article 7
of the Company's Articles of Association.

Policy and practice on payment of creditors
It is the Group's and Company’s policy to abide by the payment
terms agreed with suppliers wherever it is satisfied that the
supplier has provided goods and services in accordance with
agreed terms and conditions. A number of significant purchases

and commitments under operating leases are paid by direct debit.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had 18 equivalent days (2015:
20 days) of purchases outstanding and the Cornpany had 32
equivalent days (2015: 16 days).

At 31 December 2016, trade creditors in the Group and Company
were £6,490,000 and £48,000 respectively (2015: £6,840,000
and £59,000),

Going Concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis which assumes that the Group will continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future, The directors
have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of not less than 12
months from the date of the signing of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2076.

The Board believes that, following the sale of the land in
Manchester in January 2017, the Group has sufficient funding

to carry out its current business plans including commitments
associated with new projects as discussed on page 2. Accordingly,
the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and conclude that it is appropriate for these
accounts to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Events after the Balance Sheet date

In January 2017, the Group completed on the sale of the land held
by Health Properties {Scuth Manchester) Limited for £8,100,000
tess selling costs. At 31 December the carrying value of the land
was £6,442,000.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and up to the date
of signing the financial statements were as per the table.
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Continued

Steve Melton

Massoud Fouladi Chief Medical Officer

Paolo Pieri Chief Executive Officer

Michael Kirkwood CMG
Lerraine Baldry OBE

Andrew Shilston -
Lord Hutton of Furness

Justin Jewitt

Biographies of the current Directors are detailed on pages 6 to
7 and Directors' beneficial interests in the Group's share capital
and warrants are detailed on pages 16 to 19 of the Directors’
remuneration report.

Directors’ indemnity

In its Articles of Association, the Company has granted an
indemnity to every present and former officer in respect of
proceedings brought by third parties. The Company has procured
liability insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and
all Group companies. There are no outstanding claims or provisions
as at the balance sheet date.

Donations
The Group made charitable donations totalling £5,471 (2015:
£845) during the year to a number of charitable organisaticns
within the UK,

No donaticn was made to any political party registered in the UK
under the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000 by
either the Cormpany or its subsidiaries.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Enterprise risk identification and management

The Group has an effective system of risk management in terms
of identifying risks and monitoring actions to manage these risks.
Further details of the Group's risk management process can be
found in the Report on Corporate Governance on pages 12 to 15.

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group's

risk management system aims to provide assurance to the Board
regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk.
The system includes the controlled prioritisation of issues, review
of key operational metrics in relation to clinical outcomes, patient
experience, staff engagement and value-for-money (together
known as the ‘Quality Quartet {QQ)’ raview), mitigation, sharing
of best practice and effective crisis management.

Chief Executive Officer (resigned 1 December 2016)

Non-Executive Chairman (indepem-j-en“t)
Senior Non-Executive Director (independent}
Nor-Executive Director (independent)
Non-Executive Director (independent)

Non-Executive Director (independent)

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk
factors facing the Group, along with a description, where relevant,
of the mitigating actions in place.

Financial risks

The Group's operations expose it to a variety of financial risks

that include working capital and funding risk. The Group has
implemented a comprehensive strategic planning and budgeting
system to monitor and limit the adverse effects of the below risks,
the results of which are presented to and approved by the Board.
Management and the Board monitor performance against budget
and key financlal benchmarks through monthty reporting routines,
detailed business reviews and variance analysis.

Working capital and funding risk

Working capital and funding risk is the risk that the Group will
encounter in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabitities or will be unable to obtain sufficient funding
to pursue its growth plans and expansion opportunities. The Group
aims to mitigate this risk by robustly managing cash generation
across its eperations through detailed budgeting and tight cost
control, as well as applying cash collection targets throughout the
Group. Where the need arises, significant cost savings are made in
the short-term by reducing Head Oftice costs. The Group is also
backed by leading UK institutional investors that have provided
finance through several financing rounds over the last efeven years.

Contract risk

Contract risk exists where the Group is unable to renew the NHS
contracts at the end of their fixed tenure. The Group aims to mitigate
this risk by maintaining good relaticnships with contracting parties
and actively pursuing contract renewals and extensions ahead of
time. During 2013, the Group won the re-tender to provide renewed
services at the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five
years until July 2018. The Group also operates a five-year integrated
musculoskeletal {"MSK") service contract in Bedfordshire which ends
in March 2019.



Owing to the complexity of delivering NHS-funded services, there
is inherent contractual risk arising from the Group’s existing NHS
contracts. Default and termination of these contracts could occur
as a result of clinical or operational failures. The Croup continues (o
mitigate these risks by focusing on its business model of delivering
high quality care at the best value.

Clinical Quality Risk

As with all medical providers, clinical quality risk is a major
consideration. The Croup has an integrated corporate governance
structure which is chaired by the Chief Medical Officer who alse
sits on the Board. This structure includes senior staff across the
operational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospital site
has its own local governance structure, while a team of clinical
care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and
consistent clinical and operational policies across ail sites. Local
governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framework,
manage day to day clinical risks through a risk register, provide
appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their
findings to the Group's integrated Governance Committee. This
committee in turn provides written risk assurance reports to the
boards of the relevant Circle group companies and the Audit and
Risk cornmittee.

Price risk

The Group generally seeks to price contracts at levels that take
account of increasing prices and, where appropriate, establish
contract terms that enable revenues to be adjusted as a result
of any future increasing price levels. As the volume of patients is
anticipated to increase, the Group will be increasingly subject to
pricing changes from private insurance companies and the NHS
pricing tariff.

The Bedford MSK contract operates under a capped revenue
budget. The underlying principle assumes that the service can

be run more efficiently, improving the patient experience and
reducing operational costs. Nevertheless, the Group bears the risk
of rising operational prices as the baseline revenue is fixed subject
to local demographic or service portfalio changes.
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Government policy and regulatory risk

There are risks that political or policy changes may mean that the
number and size of contracts awarded to the Group are diminished
and that fewer services provided by the Group are contracted by
the public sector.

New regulations may be intreduced which could have an
adverse effect on the Group's operational and compliance costs.
tn addition, the Croup relies on the ability and willingness of
government-funded bedies such as CCCs and NHS Trusts to pay
for the Group's services.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk asseciated with poor clinical outcemes or patient
satisfaction is mitigatad by the focus on providing high quality
medical care at the Group’s facilities and constantly seeking to
improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC and the
QQ reviews.

Ay

Paoio Pieri
Chief Executive Officer
SEMarch 2077
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General

The Company, being quoted on AIM, is not required to comply
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code

(the 'Code'). Nevertheless, the Directors are committed ta the
highest standards of corperate governance and have voluntarily
complied with elements of the Code issued by the Financial
Reparting Council where relevant and appropriate to the
Company. As envisaged by the Code, the Board has established
three committees: an Audit and Risk Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee. In addition, the Board
has autharised a Market Disclosure Committee and the integrated
Governance Committee ('IGCY, with the latter reporting on
clinical, operational and financial matters into the Audit and Risk
Committee. These committees operate within defined terms of
reference, as determined by the Board, details of which are publicly
available at the Croup’s registered office. The functions and
responsibilities of each committee are described below, and the
members of each committee are listed in the biographies of the
Board of Directors biographies on pages 6 to 7.

The Board

The Board of Directars comprises a Non-Executive Chairman, four
independent Non-Executive Directors, and two Executive Directors
(Chief Executive Officer and Chief Medical Officer). The profiles of
the current Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are
set out on pages 6 to 7. The Articies of Association allow

no fewer than three Directors.

The Code recommends that the Board should comprise at

least two Nen-Executive Directors, determined by the Board

to be independent in character and judgement and free from
relationships or circumstances which may affect, or could

appear to affect, the Directors’ judgement. The Board considers
that the Company complies with the requirements of the Code in
this regard.

The Non-Executive Directors contribute a wide range of skills and
experience, forming a strong and independent element within

the Board. The Non-Exacutive Directors receive a fixed fee for
services rendered, are appointed for an initial period of three
years, which may be extended by agreement with the Board,

are subject to re-election by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting ('AGM’), and are not employees of the Company at the
time. Their opinions carry significant weight in the decision making
processes, both operational and financial, and they are free from
any business or personal relationships that could interfere with
their independent judgement. The Non-Executive Directors ensure
that sorme meetings are set aside during the year without the
Executive Directors present. Lorraine Baldry OBE, is the nominated
senior independent Non-Executive Director to whom shareholders,
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Directors and employees may bring concerns which normal
channels have failed to resolve or are otherwise not appropriate.

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board and
ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of the role, including:

+ managing the Board;

- ensuring that sufficient time is allowed for the discussion of
complex or contentious issues;

» ensuring a regular evaluation of the performance of the Board
as awhole, its committees and individual Directors; and

- taking the lead in identifying and meeting the development
needs of individual Directors and the Board as a whole.

The Board and its subcommittees meet at regular intervals
throughout the year and have reserved for their consideration
matters, including:

* the responsibility for the overall strategy of the Group;

- significant capital expenditure projects, budget approval and
any majos financial proposals;

- ensuring effective systems of internal control and risk

management;

regulatory compliance;

approval of public announcements and communicatians with

shareholders;

approval of the Annual Report and financial statements; and

+ remuneration of key senior employees.

+

Detailed monthly operational, clinical and financial information is
provided to the Board in a timely manner to enabile it to discharge
its duties. This includes information on the historic, budgeted

and forecast financial performance of the business as well as key
performance indicators covering volumes, revenue and EBITDA,

to allow the Beard to challenge Croup management effectively.

A budget is agreed by the Board annually and performance against
budget is reported monthty.

The Board ensures that all Directors receive appropriate training
and induction, as required, and that they are able to take
independent professional advice in the furtherance of their

duties. The Board may appoint a Director and revoke or terminate
the appointment of a Director as it thinks fit. Any Director so
appointed shall offer himself or herself for reappcintment at the
first AGM following appointment. No director shall remain in office
for longer than three years since their last election or re-election
without submitting themselves for re-election. The shareholders
may also remove a Director by ordinary resolution.

3



Continued

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee’s role is to assist the Board with the
discharge of its responsibilities in relation to internal and external
audits and controls, including reviewing the Group's Annual Report
and financial statements, considering the scope of the annual

audit and the extent of the non-audit work undertaken by external
auditors, advising on the appointment of external auditors, reviewing
the effectiveness of the internal control systems in place within the
Group and determining and reviewing the nature and extent of the
risks facing the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee meets not less
than four times a year.

The Code recommends that atl members of the Audit and Risk
Committee be Non-Executive Directors and that the Committee is
not chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Company complies
with the requirements of the Code in this regard.

Reporting into the Audit and Risk Committee is the IGC which is
chaired by the Chief Medical Cfficer, Dr Massoud Fouladi, who also
sits on the Board. Further details are provided in the principal risks
and uncertainties section of the Directors’ report on pages 8 to 11

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee recommends policies the Group
should adopt on executive remuneration, determines the levels

of remuneration for each of the executive directors and is also
eligible to attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee of
Circle Health Limited. The Remuneration Committee generates an
annual remuneration report to be approved by the members of the
Company at the AGM. The minutes of the Remuneration Committee
are circulated to, and reviewed by, the Board. The Remuneration
Committee meets not less than twice a year and the Directors'
remuneration report is set out on pages 16 to 19.

The Code recommends that all members of the Rermuneration
Committee be non-executive directors and the Group complies
with the requirements of the Code in this regard.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in determining its
composition, desired balance of skills and potential Board candidates
as the need may arise, and formulates the succession plans for the
Chairman. It recommends to the Board the succession plans for the
Chief Executive Officer. The Nomination Committee meets at least
once a year and whenever necessary to fulfit its responsibilities.

The Cade recommends that a majority of the Nomination
Committee be Non-Executive Directors, and the Group complies
with the requirements of the Code in this regard.

Market Disclosure Committee

The Market Disclosure Cormnmittee assists the Group in meeting
its obligations to announce price-sensitive and other significant
infermation and decide quickly whether an announcement
abligation has arisen under the AIM Rules for Companies and
related legislation.

The Code does not require companies to have a Market Disclosure
Committee but the directors consider it best practice to have such
a committee.

Performance evaluation and attendance

The Board has undertaken a formal evaluation of its own
performance and that of its committees through the circutation and
completion of a comprehensive questicnnaire. Having considered
the results of the questicnnaire, the directors have concluded that
the Board and its Committees continue to function effectively and
that the other commitments of the Chairman and Directors are
such that all Directors are capabte of devoting sufficient time to

the Company.

Attendance by the Directors at the various committees during the
year was as follows:

Market

Diselasure Audit and Risk Retnunerglign MNenmnation

Berard Contmiltee Carnimlier Camnutlee Comnnfs.

Lorraine Baldry 13 N/A 4 4 2
Masscud Fouladi 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Lord Hutton 12 N/A N/A 4 1
Justin Jewitt 12 N/A 4 N/A N/A
Michael Kirkwood 13 3 N/A 4 2
Steve Melton 1 2 N/A N/A /A
Paolo Pieri 13 4 N/A N/A N/A
Andrew Shilston 1z N/A 4 ) 4 2
Total meetings held 13 4 4 a 2



Relatiens with shareholders

The Company maintains a regular dialogue with fund managers,
other investors and analysts, usually following the announcement
of interim and final resutts, to ensure that the investing
community receives a balanced and consistent view of the Group’s
performance. The principal docurnents received by shareholders
are the Interim report, Annual Repert and financial statements,
and any circulars as appropriate. The Company's AGM provides an
opportunity to respond te shareholders’ questions.

Employee involvement

Circle is a socially responsible employer, and varicus initiatives are
in place to ensure that staff are treated fairly as they are critical to
its clinical, commercial and operational success, Communication
is eritical to employee relations and the Group uses bi-weekly
business updates with all sites present via tele-conference to
ensure employees are fully informed about plans and progress.
Communicatiens from the Human Resources Department notify
all staff of any changes to personnel during the year. Semi-annuat
off-site meetings are held for management and Directors to review
strategy implementation and key business opportunities. Annual
performance reviews are conducted for employees, and individual
training and development needs are identified to ensure that staff
receive supplementary training,

The Group is 24.3% owned by the Circle Partnership Benefit Trust
{CPBT} which holds shares on behalf of employees and clinicians
who work in the Group's facilities, and who receive share options
linked to their perfarmance. This performance-based incentive
scheme strengthens our identity and ethos as an employee co-
owneg company.

Disabled employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment
from disabled persons where the candidate’s particular aptitudes
and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the
requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to disabled
employees for training, career development and promotion.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy
to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the
same or an alternative position, and to provide appropriate training
to achieve this aim.

Equality

Circle seeks to be a socially responsible Group which has a positive
impact on the communities it operates in. We look tc employ a
workforce which reflects the diversity of the Group’s communities.
Na discrimination is tolerated, and we endeavour to give all
employees the opportunity to develop their capabilities.
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Environmental matters

The services provided by the Group have minimal environmental
impact. However, the Board believes that goced environmental
practices support the Group’s strategy by enhancing the reputation
of the Group and improving the efficiency of running hospitals.
Cansequently, the Group continues to put envircnmental
responsibilities high on the agenda.

The Croup and its employees try to ensure that both services and
products are procured in an environmentally friendly manner,

and that waste materials are disposed of appropriately, including
recycling where economically possible. The Group makes extensive
use of electronic communications to reduce the amount of printing
waste produced. Where appropriate, electronic communication
methods such as email, telephone and video conference facilities
are used to avoid non-essential travel. The Group does not offer a
Company car scherne to employees and encourages its employees
to travel to work using public transport or a ‘bike-to-work’ scheme.

Ethical conduct

The Board is committed to uphold ethical conduct throughout

the Group and has in place confidential whistle biowing and anti-
bribery policies that enable unresolved concerns to be escalated

to the Board'’s senior independent non-executive director. These
policies are made available to ali employees via a web-based policy
management syster that enables pericdic monitoring.

Health and safety

The Group is committed to protecting and enhancing the health
and safety of its employees and all patients who are treated in

the facilities it operates. The Group operates a formai health and
safety risk assurance framework, which is regularly monitored by a
dedicated health and safety officer who provides monthly reports
to the management teams at the operational level, and quarterly
reports to the Group's IGC. Under the framework significant
incidents are reported without delay to the Board.

Michael Kirkwood CMG
Chairman
ZH March 2077
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REMUNE
REPORT

This report sets out the Group’s remuneration
policy and details of directors’ remuneration.




Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out on pages 10 and
11 and the role of the Remuneration
Cemmittee is set out in the Report on
corporate governance on page 14,

Remuneration policy

Executive remuneration packages are
designed to attract, motivate and

retain Directors, and to reward them

for enhancing value to shareholders.

The performance measurement

of the executive directors and key
members of senior management, and
Lhe determination of their annual
remuneration package, is undertaken by
the Remuneration Committee. The Board
determines the remuneration of the non-
executive directors,

There are several elements to the
remuneration policy:

Basic salary

Executive Directors' base salaries are

set by the Remuneration Committee,
taking into account the individual's

level of responsibility, experience and
performance. Salary levels are reviewed
annually. In setting base salary levels,
the Remuneration Committee also takes
into account salary levels in comparable
companies.

Pension scheme

The Group made contributions on behalf
of Executive Directors during the year to
a defined contribution pension scheme
which was intreduced in 2012

Taxable and other benefits

These include items such as private
medical insurance and dental plans. These
benefits are in {ine with the remuneration
policy framework.

Share incentive plans

The CPBT holds a 24.3% interest in the
issued share capital of the company, in the
form of convertible and ordinary shares,

ALIFITIAL PE P T AT T EARe A S P s ol

Mursibed of ordineey shares heldon
Mon exccubrae doector 31 Decembe: 2014 and 31 Decanber 2015
Michael Kirkwood 94,157
Lorraine Baldry 47,078
Andrew Shilston 47.078

on behalf of employees, former employees
and clinicians. The ordinary shares are to
be used to satisfy opticns to be granted
under the Company's share incentive plans
in accordance with the terms previously
approved by the Company's shareholders.
It enables the participants (including
executive directors) who contribute to the
success and growth in value of the Group
to be owners of the business. 11,546,965
convertible shares automatically converted
into ordinary shares an 4 June 2016, A
further 11,546,965 convertible shares are
due to convert into ordinary shares in
December 2017

Share issue to non-executive
directors

There have been no shares {2015: nil)
issued to non-executive directors during
the year.

The Crdinary Shares, granted to non-
executive directors cannot be sold or
transferred until one year following the
end of the non-executive directors’ term of
service. The named non-executive directors
do not hold any other interests in the
ordinary share capital of the Company.

Share issue to directors
There have been no shares issued to
executive directors during the year.

In December 2013, the Company agreed to
grant to the Group's then Chief Financial
Officer, now the Chief Executive Officer,

Shares in Circle Holdings plc

options to subscribe for 2,200,000
ordinary shares at an exercise price of
£0.02 per ordinary share, This separate
incentive arrangement was agreed, given
he was not a participant in the Group’s
former share initiative scheme, nor had he
previously received as remuneration any
shares or opticns in the Company since
joining in 2010.The options were granted
in December 2014 and vested in two equal
tranches in December 2074 and December
2015, AnIFRS 2 charge of £nil {excluding
National tnsurance Contribution costs) was
recognised in 2016 (2015: £485,000),

In January 2015, the Company agreed

to grant share options to the Group's
executive directors under the Management
Incentive Plan {MIP}. In accordance with
the terms of the MIP, a combination of
options with exercise prices of £0.02 and
£0.50 were granted in June 2015, and will
vest based on a required holding period
and certain share price triggers. The earliest
exercise date was 1 December 2016,
however no level of vesting occurred as the
relevant share price triggers had nat been
met. The IFRS 2 charge recognised during
2016 in relation to the share options
granted to the Group’s directors under

the MIP scheme was £2,028,000

(2015: £633,000).

Circle Hotdings plc

Crdinary convertibie Total
Shares** {36 months) shares™ shares heid**
Mas_soud Fouladi 1,181,2_33 1,187,233 2,362,466
Steve Melton® 197,944 197,944 395,888

L
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Share options in Circle Holdings plc

At At

Exercise Earliest 1 January Awards 31 December

Share options price date 2016 in year 2016"

2016 award name Pence vesling Number Number Number
Massoud Fouladi MIP 2 Dec 16 1,000,000 - 1,600,000
MIP 50 Dec 16 1,344,090 - 1,344,090

2,344,090 - 2,344,090

Steve Melton MIP 2 Dec 16 2,500,000 - 2,500,000
MIP 50 Dec 16 1,254,782 - 1,254,782

MIP CSOP 50 Jun 18 60,459 - 60,459

3,815,241 - 3,815,241

Paolo Pieri CFQ share option award Cec 15 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
MIP 2 Dec 16 1,150,000 - 1150,00C

MIP 50 Dec 16 486,281 - 486,281

3836281 - 3836281

9,995,612 - 9,995,612

Service contracts

The Cempany's policy is for Executive
Directers' service contract notice periods
to be no longer than 12 months, with the
Directers having to give not less than six
months written notice. In the event of
terminaticn, the Cormpany will seek fair
mitigation of contractual rights. Within
legal constraints, the Remuneration
Committee tailors its approach, in

the event of early termination, to the
circumstances of each individual case.
The contracts of executive directors do not
provide for any enhanced payments in the
event of a change of controlin

the Company.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are appointed for
an initial period of three years, which may

be extended by agreement with the Board,
subject to re-election by shareholders

at the AGM. Such appointment may be
terminated by the Board or the Director
with one months’ notice. None of the non-
executive directors is engaged on a service
contract with the Company.

The Chairman's remuneration was
determined by the Board, based on
industry practice and taking into
account relevant responsibilities
and time commitment.

The remuneration for non-executive
directors consists of fees for services in
connection with Board and committee
meetings and share options. Fees for non-
executive directors are determined by the
Board, within the restrictions contained
in the Articles of Association. The levels

of remuneration for the non-executive
directors reflect the time commitment
and responsibilities of the role. The non-
executive directors are not involved in
deciding their fees.

Individual emoluments

for the year

The table below shows a breakdown,
including taxable and other benefits, for
each Director for the year, or from the
date of appointment for thase Directors
appointed in the year:
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Annual Payment Total salary
contracted Actual Pension in liey and other
salaries / fees salaries / fees Scheme of notice benefits
2016 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Lxecutive
Steve Melton 339 339 - 285 624
Massoud Fouladi 158 ' 158 24 L 182
Paclo Pieri 220 220 21 ]
MNon-Executive
Michael Kirkwood 100 100 - . 100
Lorraine Baldry 53 53 - 53
Lord Hutten of Furness 40 40 - - 40
Justin Jewitt 40 40 - - 40
Andrew Shilston 48 48 - - 48
i ) 998 99__3___________ _ _45 285 1,328
Annual Actual taxable
contracied Actual Pension and ather
salaries / fees salaries / fees Scheme benefits Tatal
2015 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Executive
Steve Melton 339 339 - 2 341
Massoud Fouladi 158 158 24 - 182
Paolo Pieri 220 210 32 1 243
Non—Exe(u-t-iv-cmm )
Michael Kirkwood 100 o 100 - - 100
Lorraine Baldry 53 53 - - 53
Lord Hutton of Furness 40 40 - . 40
Justin Jewitt 40 4Q - - 4T07
Andrew Shilston 48 48 - - 48
N 998 998 56 3 1047

No Directors waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: none).

z/ﬁme/\

Losraine Baldry OBE

Chair, Remuneration Committee

S uch 200

* M Melton revigned as Chiet Executive Officer on 1 December 2016,

**  On 4 December 2014, Crrcle Holdings ple acquired all the issued shares of Ciecle Partnershz Limiled by micans of
g Schemne of Arrangement. As part of Lhe consideration, the Company issued Converlible Shares (18 Months} and
Convertible Shares (36 months) of £002 cach.
The Circle Holdings erdinary shares held by Mr Fouladi and Mr Melton result [rom the conversion of (1} Convertible
{18 months) Shares - the shares of £0.02 par value each in the capital of Circle Holdings ple which were converted
into Circle Holdings shares in accordance with the provisions of the Circle Holdings New Articles on 4 June 2016, and
(2} Convertible {36 months) shares —the shares of £0.02 par value each in the capital of Circle Holdings plc which
are convertible inte Circle Holdings shares in accordance with the provisions of the Cirdle Holdings New Articles, in
December 2017, or otherwise as provided in the Circle Holdings New Articles.

=** During 2016, no share opticns were exercised by the directors of Circle Holdings ple
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y STATEMENT
) OF DIRECTORS’
) RESPONSIBILITIES




The Directors are responsible for preparing the finandial staternents
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Directors are required by Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 tc prepare
financial statements for each financial year. The Directors have
elected to prepare the Group financial staterments in accordance
with Internaticnal Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted
by the European Union and the Company financial statements

in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 1071, ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ ('FRS 101), as welil as applicable law.

Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and the
profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial
slatements, the Directors are required to:

= select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

state whether applicable IFRS and FRS 1071 as appropriate, have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

- prepare the financial stalements on Lthe going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate te presume the Company and the
Croup will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy,

at any time, the financial position of the Group and the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with Companies {|ersey) Law 1991. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company's website. Legisiation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from tegislation in other jurisdictions.

SOGTAL b e AT IS AL TR TS e

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in
the Board of Directors’ Report, confirm that, te the best of their
knowledge:

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the
Croup; and

+ the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the
Croup, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

Disclosure of informatien to auditors
So far as the Directors are aware at the time the report is approved:

- there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware; and

- each Director has taken all the steps that he or she cught to
have taken as a Director in order to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of the information.

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to
continue in office. A resolution concerning their reappointment will
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

LA

Paolo Pieri
Chiefl Executive Qfficer
A8 March 201/
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To the members of Circle Holdings plc

Report on the Group financial statements
OQur opinion

In our opinion, Circle Holdings plc's Group financial statements
(the “financial statements”}:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group's affairs as at 31
December 2016, and of its loss and cash flows for the year then
ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with Internationat
Financial Reporting Standards ("{FRSs”") as adopted by the
European Unien,; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

What we have audited
The financial statements, inciuded within the Group financial
statements (the "Annual Report”), comprise:

- the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;
- the consolidated inceme statement for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

- the consotidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended; and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the financial statements is IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, and applicable law.

In applying the financial reporting framewaork, the directors have
made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect
of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
have made assumptions and considered future events.

INDEPENDENT
UDITORS’ REPORT

Other matters on which we are required

to report by exception

Accounting records and information and

explanations received

Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1997, we are required to report to
youi if, in our opinion:

- we have not received ali the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or

- proper accounting records have not been kept, or

« proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received
fram branches not visited by us, or

» the financial staternents are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial

statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities set out on page 20, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view.

Qur respensibitity is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and Internationat
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) ("15As (UK & Ireland}").
Those standards require us te comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance Article 113A of
the Companies (Jersey) Law 19971 and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior censent in writing.



What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with 1SAs (UK & Ireland). An
audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial staterments are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

- whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
group’s circumstances and have been coensistently applied and
adequately disclosed;

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
the directors; and

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our wark in these areas by assessing the directors’
judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements,
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing
techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a
reasonable basis for us to draw cenclusions. We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of contrals, substantive procedures
or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent
with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstaternents
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for cur report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the company financial statements
of Circle Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December 2016.

o

Simon O'Brien (Senicr Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and

Recognised Auditors

Lenden
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

MNote £'000 E'000

Revenue 4 133,452 127,790
Cost of sales (93,055) (90,335)
Gross profit 40,397 37,455
Administrative expenses before excepticnal items {49,961) {47,934)
Operating loss before exceptional items 5 {(9,564) {10,479}
Exceptional operating items 3 2,181 (389)
Operating loss 5 (7.383) {10,868)
Finance income 10 25 5
Finance costs 9 (773) (793)
Loss before taxation {8,131) (11,656}
Income tax 1z - -
Loss for the financial year (8,131) {11,656)
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share attributable to the owners of the parent {pence) 1 {3.3) (4.7)

There is no other comprehensive income arising in the Group (2015:£nil) and therefore no separate statement of other
comprehensive income has been prepared.
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JNSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets - 13 5170 5,340
Property, plant and equipment 14 14,237 17,550
Trade and other receivables 16 - 2,500 2,500
) 21,907 25,390
CLII'I:(‘I“. ﬂSS(“lS T ) B o o
Inventories 15 1,650 - 1,876
Trade and other receivables L 14,325 14,692
Assets held for sale 7 7,623 -
Cash and cash eguivalents L 7,431 14,998
S 31,029 31,566
Totalassets 52,936 56,956
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (21,775) {19,902}
Loans and other borrowings 20 (2,424) (2,332}
(24,199) (22,234)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (1,886) (1,979)
Loans and other borrowings 20 (6.818) (7.282)
Provisions 21 - (50)
. (8704) (9.311)
Total liabilities (32,903}, {31,545}
Netassets o 20,033} 25,411
Share capital ) o 2z 7 4 QE 4,956
Share premium 2z 236 7951 236,795
Other reserves - 2z 22,1Q 22,182
Warrant reserve 23 22,79-:.3} 22,703
Share-based charges reserve 24 725_{] 4,535
Treasury share reserve 2 {9, 58—1 {9,587)
Retained deficil (264, 30"] (256,173)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent - 20 0?3 25,411
Totalequity o B 20,033 25411

The financial statements on pages 24 to 66 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March and were signed on its behalf by:

Paolo Pieri Sarah Marston
%//%v Chief Executive Officer Interim Chief Financial Officer
Tl Heshng s pl o tnele Bl ple
P s nombeer 1000 o (e ey
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Share -based

Share Share Other Warrant Treasury charges Retalned Total
capital premium reserves reserve  share reserve reserve deficit equity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2015 4,956 236,795 22182 22,703 (9,587) 1,842 (244,517) 34,374
Loss and total
comprehensive - - - - - - (11,656) {11,656)
loss for the year
Transactions with cwners
Share-based charges i i i i i 2693 i 2693
(note 24)
At 1 January 2016 4,956 236,795 22,182 22,703 (9,587) 4,535 (256,173) 25,41
Loss and total
comprehensive - - - - - - (8.131) (8,131)
loss fer the year
Transactions with owners
Share-based charges
{note 24) - - - - - 2,753 - 2,753

At 31 December 2016 4956 236795 22182 22703  (9587) 7288  (264,304) 20,033



.ONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Cash flows from opuerating activities
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Interest paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows frem investing aclivitics
Purchase of computer software
Purchase of property, plant and equipment incl. assets held for sale

Net cash used in investing activities

Repayment of finance lease
Issuing of new finance lease
Interest received

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities

RIS IS N SRR RO I RRN IR RN G B

RN LARIN I SR

Net (decrease} in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents consist of

Cash at bank and in hand

2016 2015

Note £'000 £000

27 {1.328) (4,642)

{(773) (793)

(2101) {5,435}

13 (45) (51)

(5.074) (1,998

{5119) (2,049)

28 (3,292) (2,019)
28 2,920

10 25 5

{347) (2,014)

{7.567) (2,498)

14,998 24,496

7431 14,998

7,431 14,998

7,431 14,998

Unrestricted cash at bank and on hand

27
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T GENERAL INFORMATION
Circle Holdings ple (the 'Cempany') and its subsidiaries (together
the ‘Group’) provide healthcare services in the UK.

The Company is a public limited company and is incorperated in Jersey,
however it is resident in the UK for tax purposes. The registered office is
12 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RT.

Z SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consclidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to both years presented,

unless ctherwise stated.

Buasis ol preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRS")
as adopted by the European Union and International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee ('IFRIC"), Companies {Jersey)
Law 1991, on a going concern basis and under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and
financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments).

In their preparation, management must make certain critical
accounting estimates and exercise judgement in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement, assumption or estimates which are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are set out at
the end of note 2.

Items included in the results of each of the Group's subsidiaries
are measured using the functicnal currency, which in all instances
is Sterling. The Group's consolidated financial statements and
parent company statements are presented in Sterling. All financial
information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

New standards, amendments and interpretations

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Beard
('IASB') and as adopted by the European Unicn as at 31 December
2016. The following standards have been adopted by the group for
the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1)anuary
2016 but have not had material impact on the group:

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
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New slandards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 [anuary 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financiat statements, None of these are expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements
af the Group:

» IFRS 9 Financial instrumenits (as revised in 2014} will supersede
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
upon its effective date {annual periods beginning on or after
1 january 2018),

- IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers’ is a converged
standard from the IASB and FASB on revenue recognition. The
standard will improve the financial reporting of revenue and
improve comparability of the top line in financial statements
globally. £ffective date is expected to be annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2017. The impact of this standard is currently
under review.

« Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations provide guidance on how to account for the
acquisitions of a joint operation that constitutes a business as
defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1January 2016.

+ Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception. The amendments clarify
that the exemption from preparing consolidated financiat
statements is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of
an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all
its subsidiaries at fair vatue in accordance with IFRS 10. This is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016).

+ Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

- IFRS 16 Leases issued in January 2016 and applies to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Going caoncern

The Directors consider it to be appropriate for the financial
statements to be prepared on a Going Concern basis based on
the assumptions considered in the Directors' report on page 8.
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Basis of consolidation

Subisidianes

The resufts of subsidiaries {defined as entities over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and cperating poticies of the
subsidiary) are consolidated from the date on which control of the
net assets and operatians of the acquired company are effectively
transferred to the Group. Similarly the results of subsidiaries
disposed of cease to be consclidated from the date on which
control of the net assets and operaticns are transferred out

of the Group.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of

a substdiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the business and the equity
interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The results of the subsidiaries are measured as at the same
reporting date as the parent company using consistent accounting
policies. Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on
consolidation.

scgmentrepoting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reperting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments.

Reventie

Revenue, which is measured as the fair value of consideration
received for the activity performed, represents the total amounts
derived primarily from the provision of heaithcare services in the
UK, after deducting relevant discounts and value added tax (where
services provided are not exempt). Revenue can be broken down
inta the foliowing categories:

Any cuahificd provide

Any provider whe is able to provide a specific service that meets the
required minimum standards can be listed as a possible provider to
deliver healthcare on behalf of the NHS at tariff. Patients choose
their preferred provider under the national e-referral system
(formerly the 'Choose and Boak’ system). Following the patients’
treatment and subsequent discharge from hospital, the Group

will invoice the CCG directly at tariff for the medical procedure
performed. No provider is guaranteed any volume or exclusivity.

For non-fixed payments at treatment centres, outpatient revenue
is recognised for a bundle consisting of an initial appointment and

follow ups, at completion of the first appointment with any uplifts for
outpatient procedures recognised at the time of the procedure.

Contracts with puaranteed payments

The Bedford MSK contract bas a term of 5 years. The contract aims to
create a ‘prime provider’ which takes responsibitity for coordinating
and managing the rest of the system. The main contracting parties
are Bedford CCG and local care providers. The contract revenue

is spread over the term of the contract on a straight line basis, as
activity is expected to increase by demographic growth only over

the 5-year contract period. Additional revenue has been recognised,
only to the extent that there is a high prabability of receiving the
revenue, and where it can be measured accurately. Additional revenue
has been recognised in the financial statements relating to groups of
patients that fall cutside the initial contract scope.

Circle bears the risk and rewards of the revenue and costs meaning
that an agency relationship between Circle, Bedford CCG and the
providers does not exist. As such Circle has recognised the revenue
and cost separately in the profit and {oss account.

Mrivate and self-pay

Payment is based on procedures performed, either at contractually
agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the
specific procedure undertaken.

In the case of private revenue, the insurance companies pay the
consultants directly and Circle recognises revenue for use of
the Hospital, consumables and other Clinical services.

For self-pay, Circle recognises all the revenue and cost of the
consultant is charged to cost of sales.

Other miscellancous income

Other miscellaneous income primarily relates to car parking revenue,
delicatessen revenue and consulting projects.

Car parking revenue and delicatessen revenue are recognised

at the point of sale. Consulting projects are recognised

by percentage of completion.

I xceptional items

Excepticnal items are disclosed and described separately in the
financial statements where it is necessary £o do s to provide further
understanding of the financial performance of the Group. They are
items of income or expense, either one-off in nature, non-cash or

of such magnitude that the Directors believe separate disclosure is
required to allow readers to gain an understanding of the underlying
results of the business.

The excepticnal income in the year ended 31 December 2016 was
£2181,000 (2015: cost of £389,000).



There are no exceptional finance costs during 2016 (2015: £nil).

PInang e cosls

Finance costs are recognised on an effective interest rate basis in
the period in which they are incurred, except where they are directly
attributable to the acquisition or production of a qualifying asset
which takes a substantial period of time to get ready for intended
use, such as the construction of a hospital. In such cases, borrowing
costs are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset from the first
date an which expenditure is incurred for the asset, pravided the
asset is determined to be economically viabte. Capitalisation ceases
when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
use are complete.

Finance incoms
Finance income is recognised as earned.

Intangide assets
Intangible assets comprise:

Goodwils

Coodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration
of & business combination over the Group's share of the fair value
of identiiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

of the business acquired at the date of acquisition. At the date

of acquisition, goodwill is allocated at the lowest levels for which
there are separate identifiable cash flows for the purpose of
impairment testing.

Computer software

Computer software (defined as software that is not considered
an integral part of the hardware equipment) represents third
party costs incurred in relation to the Greup's information
technotogy systems.

Other mtangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise third party 'know-how' costs
which meet the criteria of 1AS 38 'Intangible assets".

‘Know-how' costs are incurred in creating a 'new build programme’
to standardise the design of future world class hospitats by building
them within a shortened time frame utilising standard build
companents which have been manufactured off site.

Ipaitment and amortisation

Assets that have an indefinite useful life such as goodwitl, or
intangible assets that are still in their development phase, are not
subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment

or more frequently if there are indications of impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
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loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell, and value in use.

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost. After initial recognition,
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. The value in use is calculated using an appropriate pre-tax
discount rate. Gains and losses on disposal of a business include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold.

Cemputer software and other intangible assets are stated at historic
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Once
the asset is complete, amortisation is provided on a straight line
basis to allocate the cost of the asset over its estimated useful life
and the charge is taken to administrative expenses. The intangible
asset is assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired.

The useful economic life of the Group's intangible assets is
as follows:

Computer software 3 years

New-build programme
knaw-how

5 years

Praperly, plant and equipment

Property, piant and equipment is stated at historical cast tess
accurmnulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical

cost comprises all amounts directly attributable to making assets
capable of operating as intended, including development costs
and borrowing costs where relevant.

Depreciation is provided on all categories of property, plant and
equipment with the exception of freehold {and and assets under
construction. Depreciation is based on cost less estimated residual
value and is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated
useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehald land Life of lease
Shorter of lease life or
expected useful life

Leasehold improvements

- {5 to 10 years)
Clinical equipment 3 to 5 years
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3 to 10 years

(including commissicning costs)

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period. The expected useful tives of the assets to the

n
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business are reassessed periodically in the light of experience. The
carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes of circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Annels under constriction

Conunissioning costyin o of construction

Commissioning costs comprise staff, preperty, consultancy and
operational costs directly related te the commissioning of new
build hospitals. Such costs are capitalised, pravided the asset

is determined to be economicatly viabte, up ta the point that

the commissioning is complete and the hospital is fully cpen

for business, subsequent to which further such expenditure is
charged to the income statement. Once commissioned, the asset
is reclassified from ‘Assets under construction’ to the relevant
property, plant and equipment category and depreciated on a
stratght line basis in accordance with the estimated useful lives as
cutlined above.

Development costs in course of conslruction

Development costs which are directly attributable to the
development of property are capitalised as part of the cost of

the property. The commencement of capitalisation begins when
development costs for the property are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset ready for use are in progress.
Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to
prepare the asset for use are complete.

lases

Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownarship of the
leased itern are transferred to the Group, the lease is classified

as a finance lease and capitalised at the fair value of the leased
asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum future lease
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in the income statement. Leased
assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset,

Where the Group does not retain substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, leases are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease rental payments are recognised as an
expense in the income statermnent on a straight line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term.

Fventorios

Inventories, primarily medical consumables, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less
trade discounts, and is determined on a first-in, first-out basis,

Net realisable value means estimated selling price, less all costs

incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Obsolete stock is
provided for in the income statement.

Where title never transfers to the Group, consignment stock
is held off balance sheet.

Assets held for sale

Assets classified as heid for sale are measurad at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held for sale and gains or losses on subsequent
re-measurements are included in the income statement. Where an
impairment has previously been charged against to asset, this will be
reversed if the fair value less costs to sell is higher than the initial cost.
No depreciation is charged on assets and businesses classified as held
for sale.

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered or settled principally through a sale transactien rather than
through continuing use. The asset or business must be available for
immediate sale and the sale must be highly probable within one year.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers arising
from the perfarmance of services or sale of gocds. Trade receivables
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, which includes an allowance for impairment where
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of the contract.
The allowance for impairment is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows,
discounted at the criginal effective interest rate. The mavement in
the allowance for impairment is taken to administrative expenses.

Trade receivables are presented as current where collection is
expected within one year or less, otherwise they are presented as
non-current.

Cash ond cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at

call with banks, overnight depaosits other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current kiabilities.

Trade payabies

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from supgpliers.
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. If payment is contractually not due for
more than one year, they are classified as non-current liabilities,
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The Croup operates personal defined contribution pension schemes.
Contributions are charged to the income statement as they become
payable, in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The Group

has no further payment obligation once the contributions have
been paid.

Current and delorred income taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. The charge for
current income tax is based on the results for the period, as adjusted
for items which are taxable or deductible in other accounting
periods and items not taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the liability method in
respect of temporary differences arising from differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. In principie, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temperary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference is due to the initial
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction (other than a business combination) which
at the time of the transaction does not affect either taxable or
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary

differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation autharity on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the batances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled using rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited in
the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Provisions for other liabilities and charpes

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
in respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow

of resources will be required to settle the obligation and it can

be reliably estimated. Provisions are discounted where the time
value of money is considered to be material, using an appropriate
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The unwinding of the
discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Warrants

A warrant is an instrument issued by the Company which gives the
holder the right to purchase shares in the company at a specific
price at a future date. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after
deducting all of its liabilities. A warrant is treated as a financial
liability if:

- itis a non-derivative and the Group is obliged to deliver a variable
number of its shares; or

+ itis a derivative that will be settled other than by a fixed amount
of cash or other assets for a fixed number of the Company’s
own shares.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the instrument based on the allocation of proceeds
to the liability and equity components when the instruments are
first recognised.

Fquity warrants

The proceeds on issue of equity warrants are included within
shareholders' equity, net of transaction costs. Equity warrants are
valued using an appropriate valuation methodology on a dituted
pricing basis, based on the relevant share price at the time of issue
or based on an assessment of the market price at the time of issue.

Share-based charges

Shares, and in some cases share warrants, are issued to employees
and consultants. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the shares or share warrants is recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding credit to equity. The total
amount expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
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warrants granted, including:

- Any market performance conditions such as an entity’s
share price;

- Non-market performance conditions and service conditions
included in assumptions about the number of opticns that are
expected to vest; and

The impact of any non-vesting conditions,
And excluding:

Impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee for a specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
expected to be satisfied.

Where modifications to existing share options occur, the difference
between the revised charge and the existing charge will be
recognised in the income statement.

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders,

Share capiial

Ordinary shares are classified as equity, Proceeds received, net of
any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share
capital {(nominal value) and share premium.

Treantiy shares

Foliowing Project Reset, the Circle Partnership Benefit Trust was
issued with shares in the Company. The Trust is consclidated in the
financial statements and accordingly shares held by the Trust are
recognised at cost as a debit to equity in the Treasury share reserve.

sl b sunting jual;,;[‘lm s and esinpates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors make judgements and estimates concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results, The following judgements and estimates
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Judgements

The key judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below:

i, Revenue recognition
Across the Group, a number of CCCs have signed up to a
framework agreement whereby payment is made in advance
based on indicative volumes, and then reconciled to actual
volumes over a period of up to 3 months when the CCGs then
approve the activity levels. Revenue is estimated and recognised
based on activity performed in the month which had not been
approved at the end of the year.

The Bedford MSK contract entities Circle to a revenue stream
that is pre-determined by the programme budget ('capped’
budget). The annual revenue is spread across the term of the
contract and incorporates monthly seasonal fluctuations and
demnographic growth. In addition to this, the contract allows
for one off payments from Bedford CCG to Circle in respect

of treating inherited activity outside the initial scope of the
contract. A judgement has been taken on the income per
procedure which is expected to be recovered from the CCG
with reference to the income recovered fram similar precedures

Estimates

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below:

i Tax
The recagnition of deferred tax assets is dependent upan an
estimation of future taxable profits that will be available against
which deductibte ternporary differences can be utilised. In the
event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences
may impact the carrying value of such deferred tax assets in
future years. A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the
financial statements due to uncertainty over the availability of
suitable future taxable profits against which they will reverse,

ii. Provisions
Provisions are assessed annually in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Provisions are recognised where it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will occur as a result of a
past event or transaction and a reliable estimate of the outflow
can be made. In the event that estimates are wrong, this may
impact the financial statements in future years.
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Voluation of property, plant and equipment

Freehold and leasehold land are held at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. These were subject to valuations at 31
December 2012 by third party professional valuers to assess fer
any indications of impairment. The valuations were based on a
number of factors including intended usage for the site, potential
rental value and where applicable the length of the lease. In the
event that estimates are wrong, this may impact the financial
statements in future years.

Sharie-based charges

Share-based charges are based on the share and warrant
valuations calculated using several assumptions (for example
share price volatility and time constraints} included within an
option pricing model. In the event that estimates are wrong, this
may impact the charge in future years.

Useful ives and recoverability of properly

plant and equipmoent

Property, ptant and equipment are reviewed on a regular basis to
check they are still in use, to ensure that their useful economic
life is in line with the expected life of the asset and that their
carrying values are recoverable. In the event that estimates are
wrong, this may impact the financial statements in future years,

Allowwanee tor impar ment of trade recevables

An allowance for impairment of trade receivables is made,
based on the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated cash flows. In the event that
estimates are wrong, this may impact the financial statements
in future years.

AR IR N

vii, Goodwill and intangibles
Coodwill and intangibles are recognised at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The carrying
amount of goodwill is assessed annually based on value in use
calculations, using cash flow projections based on five year
financial forecasts prepared by management. Xey assumptions
relating to forecasts in revenue growth and decline are used
which include discounting back to present value using a risk
adjusted pre-tax discount rate of 10.0% and assumptions
in terrms of valume and cost savings. In the event that these
estimates are wrong, this may impact the financial statements
in future years.

Intangible assets that are subject to amortisation are considered
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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3 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Board. The Board reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources, and has divided the Croup into three reportable business segments based on the Group's management
and internal reporting structure. The Board assesses the performance of the segments based on revenue, gross profit, EBITDA before
exceptional items and operating (loss) / profit. Measures of assets and liabilities for each reportable segment is not reviewed by the Board

in the Group's internal reporting. All measures are prepared on a basis consistent with that of the consolidated incame statement. Revenue
charged between segments has been charged at arm's tength and eliminated from the Group financial staternents.

Revenue from external customers in the segmental analysis is alsc measured in a manner consistent with the income statement. This is split by
hospital rather than by patient, Circle hospital services include Circle Reading, Circle Bath and Circle Nettingham. Other Circle services includes
ather non-hospital management services such as the centract with Bedfordshire CCG to provide musculoskeletal services (MSK'} to patients in

Bedfordshire. Geographic factors are not considered as the vast majority of the Group's operations take place within the United Kingdom.

All Gther
Segments and
Circle hospital Other Circle Unallocated Total
services services Items Group
2016 £000 F'000 £000 £'000
Revenue from external customers 103,995 29,457 - 133,452
Cost of sales (68,200) (24,855) - (93,055}
Gross Profit 35,795 4,602 - 40,397
Administrati bef ionali
mIHI-S r-a ive expense.s e. ore exceptional items, (34.734) (3,059) (3,008) (46,801)
depreciation and amortisation
EBITDA before exceptional items 1,061 1,543 {9,008) {6,404)
Depreciation and amortisation charge (3,004) (38) (118) (3,160)
Operating {loss)/profit before exceptional items (1,543) 1505 {9,126} {9.564)
Exceptional items - - 2,181 2,181
Operating {loss)/profit {1,943) 1,505 (6.945) (7,383)
Finance income 25
Finance costs (773)
Loss before taxation (8.131)
Other information
Capital additions 841

5,527
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1,653

I SEGMEMTAL REPORTING
All Other
Segments and
Circle hospital Other Circle Unallocated Total
services services Iltems Group
2015 £'000 £:000 E'000 £000
Revenue from external customers 98,952 28,771 67 127,790
Cost of sales (65,511) (24,824} - (90,335}
Gross Profit 33,441 3,047 67 37,455
Administrative expenses before exceptional items, depreciation,
amortisation and charge recognised in respect of amounts {32,904) {2,641) (9,338) (44,883)
recoverable on contract
EBITDA before exceptional items 537 1,306 {9,271) (7,428)
Depreciation, amortisation and charge recognised in respect of amounts (2.782) (16) (253) (3,057)
recoverable on contract
Operating loss before exceptional items (2,245) 1,290 (9.524) (10,47%)
Exceptional items - - {389) (389)
Operating (loss)/profit (2,245) 1,290 (9,913) (10,868)
Finance income 5
Finance costs {793)
Loss before taxation {11,656)
Olher information
Capital additions

56 1182

37
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4 REVENUE
2016 2015
£/000 £000
Provision of healthcare services 132,785 127,321
Other miscellaneous income 667 469
133,452 127,790
5 OPERATING LOSS
2016 2015
Note £000 £'000
Opuraling loss 1s stated after charging / {crediting)
Other misceilaneous income
Amartisation of intangibleﬂassets 13 2-15 273
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 2,945 2,779
Auditors’ remuneration (see below} 289 29
Movement in provisicn for bad debts 17 - (135} 222
Operating lease rental 16,98; 10,445
Exceptional operating items 6 (-2-,181) 389
Auditoss’ remuneration payable to PricewaterhouscCoopers LLP
Fees payable to Company’s auditors for the parent Company and consotidated financial statements 98 98
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for other sesvices 7
—The audit of Company's subsidiaries 162 182
—Tax advisory services 25 1-1
28-9- 291




6 EBITDA AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Leceptional operating ilems
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2016 2015
Note £'000 £'000

Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 (2,181) -
Share-based charges 24 7 - 552
Other exceptional expense / (income) - (163)
(2181} 389

The reversal of impairment relates to land in Manchester that was purchased in 2011 and impaired by £2,181,000 in 2012. As this land was
sold in January 2017 for greater than the original purchase price, this impairment has been reversed, in accordance with 1AS36. The reversal

has been included as an exceptionat item which is where the original impairment was charged.

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
Stall cosls

2016 2015
Note £'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 32,380 29,487
Share-based charges 24 - 2,586 2,512
Social security costs - 2,}64 2,715
Other pension costs 7 25 o 1,593 o 1,452
39,323 36,166

Muonthiy average number of cmployees
2016 2015
Numbers Numbers
Administrative 553 529
Clinical 7 ;64 516

117 1,045

The average number of employees includes Directors on service contracts.

a9
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

2016 2015

£'000 £000

Total salary and other benefits 1328 1,047

IFRS 2 share based payment charge 1,266 ms
Aggregate emoluments

2,594 2164

Directors” emoluments relate to the Non-Executive and Executive Directors, who are remunerated by Circle Holdings plc and
Circle Health Limited.

The Directors had retirement benefit contributions during the year of £45,000 (2015: £55,000).

During 20186, no share options were granted to Non-Executive Directors {2015: £nil). Share based payment charge recognised in relaticn to
the Executive Directors was nil (2015: £1,118,000). No share options were exercised by the Directors of the Group during 2016.

Please refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report for further details.

Compenuation of <oy manageiment persannel

The Group made payments to key management personnel, defined as the key Executive partners of the business, for services provided to the
Group as follows:

2016 2015

£000 £'000
Total salary and other benefits 1,048 766
IFRS 2 share based payment charge - 1,266 M8
Short-term employment benefits 2,314

1,884

All key management personnel were also Directors of the company in the year and therefore their remuneration has also been disclosed
within aggregate emoluments of the previous section.



IR L Y B L I L N LN B R AR A

9 FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015
£°000 £'000
Finance lease interest 704 745
Other bank charges 69 48
773 793

10 FINANCE INCOME
2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Bank interest receivable 25 5

25 5

11 LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted loss per ordinary share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ardinary
shares outstanding to assume the conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares. Share warrants and options in issue represent the only
category of potentially dilutive ordinary shares for the Group.

The following table sets out the computation for basic and diluted net loss per share for the year:

2016 2615
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent (£000's) (8,131) {11,656)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (number} - 2;7,79"7,188 247;797,188
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share (pence) -(3.3) (4.7)

There is no difference in the weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic and diluted net ioss per ordinary share as the effect
of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding is anti-dilutive.

41
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12 TAXATION

rAnatyses of ircome tas charge i yean

2016 2015
£000 £'000

Current tax - -

UK corporation tax on profit - -

Deferred tax - -
Originating and reversal of timing differences - -

Income tax charge on loss for the year - -

il actars affectirg the current Lax charpe for the year

Although the parent company is registered in Jersey, it is resident in the UK for tax purposes and is subject to UK corporation tax. The tax
assessed on the Group's loss before taxation per the consolidated income statement differs from the rate of UK corporation tax of 20%
(2015: 20.25%). The differences are explained below:

2016 2015
£'000 £000
Loss before taxation (8131) (11,656)
Loss before taxation multiplied by the average standard rate of carporation tax in the UK o% 20% (2015: 20.25%) {1,626) (2,360)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 78 440
Temporary differences for which no deferred tax recognised S 448 456
Tax losses for which no deferred tax recognised - - 1,:100 1,463-
Effect of Jersey tax at 0.0% S - - “ 'I

Total income tax charge for the year - -
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12 TAXATION
mEactors that may affect future 1ax charges

The following tax rates had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and their effects have been included in these financial
statements: 20% effective from 1 April 2015 recducing to 19% effective from 1 April 2077 and 17% effective from 1 April 2020.

The proposed rate changes may affect future tax charges. In addition the utilisation of any tax losses and temporary differences for which no
deferred tax asset has been recognised may also affect future tax charges.

v Delemed tax

UK deferred tax has been calculated at the rates of tax at which assets / {liabilities) are expected to reverse based on enacted tax rates. Deferred tax
has been calculated at a rate of 17% (2015: 18%). The net deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet is as follows:

2016 2015

£000 £000

At 1 January - -
Recognised during the year B
At 31 December )

The deferred tax asset not recognised in the financial statements is as follows:

2016 2016 2015 2015

Tax value Gross Tax valua Gross

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Tax losses carried forward 26,999 158,818 27,662 153,677

Deductible temporary differences 2,882 16,953 2,876 15,977

29,881 175,771 30,538 169,654

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the financial statements due to the uncertainty over the availability of suitable future taxable
profits against which the asset wili reverse.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cther
Computer intangible
Goodwill software assets Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cosl
At 1January 2015 8183 1,913 166 10,262
Additions 51 s
As at 1 January 2016 8183 1,964 166 10,313
Additions T S s - 45
Disposals - - (166} (166)
As at 31 December 2016 : 8183 2,009 - 10,192
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1January 2015 3,212 ; 1-,322 166 4,700
Amortisation charge for the year N R Y
As at 1 January 2016 3,212 1,595 166 4,973
Amortisation charge for the year - o 215 o s
Disposals - - (166} {(166)
As at 31 December 2016 3,212 7 1,810 - 5,022
Net book amount
At 31 December 2016 4,971 ;|99 - 5,176
At31December2015 4971 369 A 5,340
At 1January 2015 4,971 591 - 5,562

The amortisation charge for the year is included within the incorme statement within administrative expenses before exceptional items.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

I Goodwill

Goodwit] acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business combination. CGUs are
independent sources of income streams and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the associated goodwill is monitored for
management purposes. The carrying amount of goodwilt has been allocated to the following CGU:

2016 2015
£000 £000
Circle's Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre

4,971

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing annually, or mere frequently where there are indications that the goodwill may be impaired.
The recoverable amounts of all CGUs are determined based on value in use calculations, using pre-tax cash flow projections based on
management approved financial forecasts for the period of the contract. The key assumptions for these forecasts are those relating to
revenue growth and decline, based on past experience and expectations of future changes in relevant CGUs. The Group prepares cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent financial plans approved by management for the period of the contract. Cash flows are discounted
back to present value using a risk adjusted pre-tax discount rate of 10.0%, which represents an internally computed rate, based on gearing
levels and loan interest rates.

I he financial plans reflect past experience and incorporate assumptions in terms of volumes, the mix of patient treatments and tariff
changes. Volume increase is reasonably assumed to be 1.5% for 2017 and tarifts are assurned to be flat. The recoverable amount calculated
based on value in use exceeded carrying value byf11,000. The value in use calculation assumes 18 months of cash flows until the end of
the contract. A reduction in trading over the next 18 months could result in an impairment, however a renewal or extension of the contract
would significantly increase the headroom.

iCompuler sollware

Computer software represents third party costs incurred in relation to the Group's information technology systems.

i Other inLanpible assels

Other intangible assets included the development of 'know-how’ for a new programme to build hospitals within a shortened time frame.

This is achieved by utilising standard build components which have been manufactured off site at a reduced cost and reducing the amount
of build time on site. During 2014, this was fully impaired and, in 2016, it was completely written off.

Assets held under finance lease have the following net book amounts:

2016 2015
£000 £000
Computer software 19 261

119 261

4,971

45
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fittings
Freehold and Assets under Leasehold Clinical and office
leasehold land construction  impravements equipment equipment Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 2015 - - 11,842 3,376 3,353 10;362 16,367 45,300
Additions ) - 7 1,128 116 1,231 365 2,840
Disposals - - - 7} (2) (9)
Atljanuary20l6 1842 4504 3,469 n586 16730 48131
Additieons - 1,244 407 EL:} 2,60 4,633
Disposals 7 7 - - - (112) (2} (114)
Reclassifications (7181} - - - - (7181
At 31 December 2016 4,661 5,748 3,876 11,855 19,329 45,469
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 )anuary 2015 2,420 3,072 2,509 4,534 15,267 27,802
Depreciation charge for the year 35 - 113 2,189 442 2,779
Atjanuary2006 2455 3072 2622 6723 15709 30581
Depreciation charge for the year 60 - 128 2119 638 2,945
Reversal of impairment charge (2181 - - - - {2,181}
Disposals - - - 7 (113) - (113}
At31 December2016 - 334 3,072 2,750 o 8,729 16,347 - 31,232
Net beok amount
Af 31 Decérlr'nber 5616 o N 4,327 2,676 1,12é 3,126 - 2,982 14,237
AtBWE)e(ember 2015 - 9,387 1,432 847 :Bé; o 1,021 17,550
At ‘I-Januar;/-ZO'IS 9,422 304 8447 . 5,828 1,100 17,498-

The depreciation charge for the year is included in the income statement within administrative expenses before exceptional items (note 5).

Freehold and leasehold land were valued at 31 December 2012 by a third party valuer. Management believe these to be appropriate on the
basis that there have not been decreases in land values in the areas since.

The land impairment charge of £2,181,000 has been reversed. This impairment related to land in Manchester that was sold in January 2017,
See notes 17 and 31 for details.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUHPMENT EQUIPMENT

Assets held under finance leases have the following net book amounts:

2016 2015

£000 £000

Leasehold land 4,327 4,237
Clinical equipment 2,278 3,994
Furniture, fittings and office equipment -- ”163 395
7 - -6_,}68 8,626

The additions during the year comprise {ease agreements with Shawbrook Bank Limited and Close Leasing Limited to finance the purchase of

clinical equipment at the Circle Reading and Circle Nottingham hospitals.

Freehold and leasehold land can be split into the following net book amounts:

2016 2015
£'000 £000
Frechold - 5,150
Leasehold 4,327 4,237
4,327 9,387

15 INVENTORIES
2016 2015
£000 £'000
Consumables 1,650 1,876

At 31 December 2016, an amount of £nit (2015: £nit) has been provided against the gross cost of inventories. The cost of inventories
recognised as an expense in the year is £14,714,000 (2015: £14,051,000).
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TG TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current Non-current
2016 2015 2016 2015
E£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Trade receivables 10,295 10,1M - -
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (274) [409) a -
Net trade receivables 10,021 9,702 -
Prepayments and accrued income 2,535 4,335 2,500 2,500
Other- receivables 1,769 655 7 - -
174.325 14,692 7 7727,500 2,500
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2016 2015
£'000 £000
At 1lanuary 409 187
Increase/(decrease) in the year (135) 222
At 31 December 72747 409
At 31 Decemnber, the ageing analysis of trade receivabies was as fallows:
2016 2015
£'000 £°000
Not past due 7,145 5,536
Past due 0-30 days, but not impaired 1,361 1,052
Past due 31-60 days but not impaired 41 960
Past due by more than &0 days butrﬁot imbéired 1,044 2153
- - - _le,OZ‘! 9,762

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and credit terms are generally 30 days. The above receivables are not impaired because

management believe they are fully recoverable.
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Freehold land
£'000

Cost
At T January 2015
Additions

Disposals

At T)anuary 2016
Additions
Disposals
Reclassificati§n5

At 31 December 2016

442

7,181
7623

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 ]anuary 2015

Depreciation charge for the yéar
At 1]anuary 2016

Depreciation éharge for the year
Reversal of impairment charge
Disposals

At 31 December 2016

Net book amount

At 31 December 2016
At 31 December 2015
At 1 January 2015

In January 2016, marketing for the sale of land held by Health Properties (South Manchester) Limited commenced.

This land was then sold in January 2017, See note 31 for details.

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016
£'000

2015
£'000

Cash and cash equivalents

7.431

14,998

The Directors consider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate te their fair value.

There is no unrestricted cash in 2016 or 2015.
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1S TRADE ANE OTHER PAYABLES

Current Non-current
2016 2015 2016 2015
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Trade payables 6,490 6,840 - -

Deferred incame o :?,_8_9_9_ 847 - -

Accruals 11,343 10,969” 7 7 1,356 1,979

Social security and other tax-a;ion 1,043 1,246 S -

- - 21,775 19,902 1,886 o 1,979

Trade payables, accruals and amounts owed to other related parties are unsecured and interest-free.

The Directors cansider the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate to their fair value. Long-term payables have been
discounted where the time value of money is considered to be material.

20 LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Current Non-cusrent
2016 2015 2016 2015
£'000 £'000 E'000 F000
Secured finance leases (i) 2,424 2,332 6,818 7282
- 2,424 7 2,332 6,818 7282

Flinarce cases
Finance leases comprise various lease agreements with Close Leasing Limited, Shawbrcok Bank Limited and GE Capital Equipment Finance
Limited to finance the purchase of Information Technology ('IT") assets, fixtures, fittings and furniture and medical equipment, for the

commissioning of Circle Reading hospital and the 125 year lease for land in Birmingham entered into with Pebble Mill Investments Limited
('Pebble Mill') in Novemnber 2011

2016 2015
£'000 £'000

Gross finance lease liabilities - minimum fease payments
Falling due: o
- No later than 1 y-'ear- - S 2,983 2,987
- Later than 1year and no later than 5 years 3,596 4,093
- Later than 5 years - 9,159 5,323

T 15,738 16,463M
Future finance charges on finance leases (6,496) (6,789)

9,242

9,614



20 LOANS AND OTHER BORRCWINGS
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2016 2015
£'000 £'000

The breakdown ot the present value ot finance leases is as follows

Falling due:

- I-\J-o-later than 1 year 2,424 2,332
- Laler than 1 year and no later than 5 years 2,116 2,657
- Later than 5 years -4,702 4,585
9,242 9,614

The Group signed a finance lease commitment with GE Capital Eguipment Finance Limited on 11 June 2012 for a total facility of £5,000,000
to lease medical equipment over & five year period. On 13 July 2012, the Group signed a finance lease commitment with Close Leasing
Limited for a total facility of £2,000,000 to lease IT equipment and fixtures, fittings and furniture over a five year period.

In June 2015, Circle Bath signed a finance lease commitment for a facility of £21,000 over a 3 year period. in fuly 2015, Circle Reading signed
a new finance lease with Shawbrook Bank Limited for a facility of £45,000 over a five year period. In addition, in November, the Group
signed finance lease commitments with GF Capital Fquipment Limited for a total facility of £800,000 to lease medical equipment at Circle

Nottingham until June 2018.

The Pebble Mill site lease liabilities are unsecured but are guaranteed by Circle Holdings pic. The Group can terminate the lease on T August
2046 or 1 August 2077 by giving at least six months written notice to the landlord. In additior, the Group has two opportunities to reduce
the annual rent; the first buy down right is within & period of five years from the date of the lease and the second buy down right is within

a period of six months prior to the first lease break date in 2046, Both instances require payment of a premium calculated in accordance
with a formula set out in the lease and adjusted using the RPI index. There are no contingent rents. The value of the finance lease creditor is

£4,840,000 {2015: £4,895,600}.

e Bty profite

Under the terms of the loans, the amounts fall due as follows:

Less than Between Between Creater than
1year 1-2 years 2-3 years 4 years Total
206 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'0C0
Finance leases 2,424 764 442 5,612 9,242
2,424 764 442 5,612 9,242

Less than Between Belween Creater than
1year 1-2 years 2-3 years 4 years Total
2015 E'GO0 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Finance leases 2,332 2,03 664 4,587 9,614

2,332 2,031 664

4,587

9,614
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21 PROVIZIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

2016 2015

£'000 £'000

Current - -
Nen-current - 50
- 50

Dilapidations Total

£'000 £'000

At 1 January 2015 50 50
Released to the income statement - -
Utilised during the year - -
Aﬂ]anuar-y 2016 - _ o - - 7 - 50 50
Released to the income statement (38) (38)
Utilised during the year (12) {12)

At 31 December 2016 -

Ditapidations

This provision relates to the expected cost of returning various leased properties to their former state when the Group exits the leases.
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2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each 6,500 6,500
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0.02 each 250 250
Convertible shares (36 months) of £0.02 each 250 250
7,000 7,000
Number Number
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each 325,000,000 325,000,000
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0.02 each 12,506,600 12,500,000
Convertible shares (36 months) of £0.02 each 12,500,000 12,500,000
350,0C 2,000 350,000,000
Alotied and fully paid ap
Share Share Treasury Other
Shares capital premium shares reserves Total
Par value (number) £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 2014 130,785,122 2,616 193,145 - 22,182 217,943
Fundraise - 9 January 2014 £002 55,000,000 1,100 25120 . . 26,220
(net of costs)
Shares issued — 16 June 2014
£0.02 62,769 1 - - - 1
{net of costs)
Project Reset - ordinary shares
issued — 8 December 2014 £002 38,855,367 777 7,560 {(9,587) - (1,250)
(net of costs)
Project Reset - convertible
shares issued — 8 December 002 23,093,930 462 10,970 B . 11,432
2014 [net of costs)
At 31 December 2014 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 {9,587) 22,182 254,346
At 31 Decernber 2015 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 {9,587) 22182 254,346
At 31 December 2016 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 (9,587) 22,182 254,346
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22 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES

The fotlowing table details the movement in share capital {ordinary and convertible) in the year ending 31 December 2016
by major shareholder.

Additional At 31 December

At 1 january purchases / 206
2016 {sales) £'000
tansdowne Partners 54,167,008 - 54,167,008
Invesco Perpetual 18,268,920 [i8,268,920)
Toscafund 62,397,297 3,896,012 66,293,309
Balderton Capital 16,756,534 - 16,756,534
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685  (9,252,685) -
BlackRock 5,624,270 240,645 5,864,915
Polar Capital 1,400,000 {100,000) 1,300,000
Circle Partnership Benefit Trust 61,949,297 (1,650,002} 60,299,295
Richard Criffiths - 23,226,137 23,226,137
Cther - 17,981177 17,7908,813 19,889,990

247,797,188 - 247,797,188

The following table details the movement in ordinary share capital in the year ending 31 December 2015 by major shareholder.

i
Additional Al 31 December

At 1 January purchases / 2015

2016 {sales) £'000

Lansdowne Partners 54,167,008 - 54,167,008
Invesco Perpetual - " 53,268,920 (35,000,000} 18,268,920
Odey Asset Managemen-t - 27,447,74706 (27,447,406} -
Toscafund - 62,397,297 62,397,297
Balderton Capital 16,756,534 - 16,756,534
BlueCrest Capital Management - 9,252,685 - 9,252,685
BlackRock - 5,781,380 (157,110} 5,624,270
Polar Capital - 1,000,000 400,000 1,400,000
Circle Partnership Benefit Trust 61,949,297 - 61,949,297
Henderson 5,200,000  (5,200,000) -
Other 12,973,958 5,007,219 17,981,177

247,797,188 - 247,797,188
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23 WARRANMTS

The Group issues warrants which give the holders the right to purchase shares for a specific price at a future date. The warrants are treated
either as equity instruments and recorded in the warrant reserve, or as financial liabitities and recorded in liabilities, depending on certain
criteria, as outlined in the Group's accounting policies. There are no remaining warrants issued as financial liabilities.

Wartants eated as oguily instiumernt

Movements in the warrant reserve during the year are as follows: 2016 2015
£000 £000
At 1)anuary and at 31 December 22,703 22,703

The following table details ail share warrants issued by the Graup which are recognised in equity, none of which have been exercised to date:

At 1 January Share-based At 31 December
Exercise price  Qriginal warrants Modified  Revised warrants 2016 charges 2016
Notes £ {number) (number) {number) £'000 £'000 £'000
Beneficiary
Warrants issued in 2008
Balderton Capital b £1.52 523,460 - 523,460 4,111 - 4,11
Lansd
Ansaowne b £1.52 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
Partners
JCAM £10.31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1,616
Warrants issued in 2009
Balderton Capital b £1.52 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
L
ansdowne b £1.52 172,355 . 172,355 479 ; 479
Partners
BlueCrest Capital £1.52 75,510 - 75,510 296 - 296
Management
Warrants moditied in 2017
Health Trust b £152 - 2340765 2,340,765 14,743 - 14,743
{Jersey)
1,282,240 2,340,765 3,623,005 22,703 - 22,703

a. The 2,340,765 share warrants vested over a 24 month period from May 2011 until May 2013 and were exercisable from the date they vest
(1724 every month from May 2011) and do not have any expiry date. None of the warrants were exercised during 2016 (2015: nil),

b. In May 2011 after the initial Public Offering ('IPO’) the existing share warrants, which consisted of warrants issued in 2008 and 2009 to
Heaith Trust {jersey) and Health Trust {jersey) option pool were modified adjusting beth the exercise price and vesting conditions. Under
the terms of the modification the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants issued exclusively to Health Trust (Jersey) and the
exercise price was set to the IPO price of £1.52 per new ordinary share issued. The modified share warrants do not have any expiry date or
any conditions attached. A fair value assessment was completed based on the value of the existing warrants prior to PG and the fair value
of the modified warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis. The incremental fair value of the modification was
recognised on a straight-line basis aver a 24 month period from May 2011 until May 2013, in line with the revised vesting timetable (1/24
every month from May 2011).

55



Continued

24 SHARE-BASED CHARGES

Shares, shares options and share warrants are issued to divectors, employees, clinicians and external investors who contribute to the success
and growth in value of the Croup. The issuance of these warrants and shares, including the issue of shares to scheme participants and
employees, qualifies as equity-settled share-based payment transactions and falls within the scope of IFRS 2 'Share-based payment’. The
impact on the income statement in respect of share-based charges is as foliews. Note there is no charge associated with the transaction
where the employees subscribe for the shares at full market value:

2016 2015

Nole Type £'000 £'000

Share options issued to Circle employees and partners a  Sharesoptions 2,753 2,693
2,753 2,693

pie o toror e s e nptonges s aned aniner
During 2015 and 2016, a number of share options awards were granted to Circle employees and Circle partners. There are
two main share option schemes: Partnership Incentive Plan (PIP) and Management Incentive Plan (MIP). The MIP scheme
have market conditions attached. In accordance with the terms of the MIP, the granted options will vest based on a required
holding period and certain share price triggers. The earliest exercise date is 1 December 2016,

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Share-based charges resorve
At January N 4,535 1,842
Share-based charges ”2,7753 2,693
At 31 Decemb-er- - o _7,288 4,535

The parameters on which the fair values of the various share option schemes were calculated are detailed below. The fair value of a share
option disclosed below represents the value of the share option as determined by IFRS2 mirus the strike price payable by the holder of the
option upon exercise.
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Share option granted to CFO
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Stock price at grant date (1 December 2014) £0.50
Exercise p”ri-ce B £0.02
Expected volatility 50%
Risk free interest rate 5%
Vesting pericd 1 year
Fair value of share cption £0.50
2013 and 2014 share options award - 2 pence
Stock price at grant date (30 April 2015) £0.49
Exercise price £0.02
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.447%
Vesting period 8 months
Fair value of share option £0.47
2013 and 2014 share opticns award - 50 pence
Stock price at grant date (30 April 2015) £0.49
Exercise price £0.50
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.447%
Vesting peried 8 months
Fair value of share eption £0.12
2015 share options award - 2 pence
Stock price at grant date (25 September 2015} £0.38
Exercise price EOOZ
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.620%
Vesting period 2 years
“Fair value of share optioﬁ _£0.36
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24 SHARE-BASED CHARGES

2015 share options award - 50 pence

Stock price at grant date {25 September 2015) F0.38
Exercise price £0.50
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.620%
Vesting period 2 years
Fair value of share option £013
Management incentive plan {with market conditions attached) - 2 pence
Stock price at grant date (23 June 2015) £0.48
Exercise price £0.02
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.72%
Vesting period 2 years
Fair value of share option ~ .._.F039
Management incentive plan (with market conditiens attached) - 50 pence
Stack price at grant date (23 June 2015) £0.48
Exercise price £0.50
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest raté 0.72%
Vesting period Z years
Fair value of share option £0.23
2016 share options award - 2 pence
Stock price at grant date (24 June 2016) £0.19
Exercise price £0.02
Expected volatility 791%
Risk free interest rate 0.275%
Vesting period 2 years
Fair value of share option £017
2016 share options award - 50 pence
Stock price at grant date {24 June 2016) £019
Exercise price £0.02
Expected volatlity 79.1%
Risk free interest rate 0.275%
Vesting period 2 years
Fairvalue gf_ ;harq option £0.03
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25 PENSION COMMITMENTS

The Croup participates in two personal defined contribution pension schemes for its employees. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Croup in independently administered funds. The contributions by the Group for the year were £1,593,000
(2015: £1,452,000). As at 31 December 2016 outstanding contributions totalled £132,000 (2015: £127,000).

26 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Croup has entered into various non-cancellable operating leases of equipment, land and buildings with varying terms, escalation clauses
and renewal rights. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable cperating leases are as follows:

Plant and machinery Land and buildings
2016 2015 2016 2015
£000 £'000 £000 £'000
No later than 1 year 516 547 10,851 10,283
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 208 724 36,472 37,327
Later than 5 years - - 134.558 142,964
724 1,271 181,881 190,574
2T NET CASH QUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
2016 2015
Noles £'000 £'000
Loss before taxation (8131) (11,656)
Finance costs ) 773 793
Finance income 7 " {25) " (5)
Amortisation of intangiblé assets o 13 215 273
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 13 o 2,945 2,779
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets 7 o - 9
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment - 34 (2181)
Share-based charges 25 2,753 2,693
Movements in work-ing capital: - 7 o
- {Increase)/decrease in inventories 226 (70)
- {Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 367 1,990
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - ”1,780 (1,448)
- Increase/(decrease) in provisionsr - . o o (s0) -

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1.328) (4,642}
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28 RECOMCILIATION AND ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

2016 2015

£'000 £000
{Decrease) in unrestricted cash in the year {7,567} (9,498)
{(Decrease) in restricted cash in the year - -
Issuing of new finance lease (2,920} -
Repayment of finance lease 3,292 2,019
Movement in net debt from cash flow (7.195) (7,479)
Other non-cash movements - (842)
Movement in net debt (7195} (8,321}
Net debt at 1 January 5384 13,705
Net debt at 31 December (1,5:-‘{‘“ 5.384

Other non-cash

At 31 December

At 1 January Cashilow  Reclassifications changes 2016
2016 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Liquid rescurces
Unrestricted cash 14,998 (7,567) - - 7,431
Debt due within one year :
Finance leases {2.332) 372 (464) ) - (2,42:%)
Debt due after one year - N
Finance leases (7.282) - 464 - {6,818)
Net debt 5,384 (7195) - - (1.811)
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Other non-cash At 31 December

AL January Cashflow  Reclassifications changes 2016
7015 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Liquid resources
Unrestricted cash 24,496 {9.498) - - 14,988
Lebt due within one yeas
Finance leases (1,.922) 2,019 {2.152) {(277) (2,332)
Debt due after one year
Finance leases (8,869} - 2,152 {565) (7.282)
Net debt 13,705 (7.479) - (842) 5384

Z9 FINAMNCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

i Minancial risk facton,

The Group's operations expese it to a variety of financial risks that include pricea risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group
seeks to limit the adverse effects of these risks by monitoring levels of debt finance and the related finance costs, and by matching the risks
of the financing with the risks and return profiles of the assets The risks are monitored by management throughout the year via monthly
reviews of cperational performance,cash flows and levels of individual debt instruments and overall debt levals,

Classey o finanial inslitments

The Group's financial instruments comprise financial assets such as cash, short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, and financial
liabilities such as bank loans, loan notes, and trade and other payables. In addition, the Group was party to interest rate swaps to manage the
Croup's interest rate risks arising from the Group's scurces of finance,
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The following tables classify the Group's financial instruments according to 1AS 39 ‘Financial instruments; recognition and measurement’:

ket

Fair value
toansand  through profit Amortised
receivables and loss cost Total
Note £000 £'000 £'000 £000
As at 31 December 2016
Firnancial assets
Trade and other receivables 17 11,790 - - 11,790
Cash and cash equivalents 8 7.431 - - 743
Total finanrcriaxl assets 19,221 - - 19,221
HI'I.,]ITCEE!.[ llabllltl(‘s - o 7 -
Trade and other payables 1% - - {6,490) (6,490)
Finance lease liabilities 20 - - (9,242) (9,242)
Totat financial liabilities {15,732) (15,732)
Fair value
Loans and through profit Amorlised
receivables and loss cost Total
Nate £000 £'000 £'000 £000
As at 31 Decemnber 2615
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 17 10,357 - - 10,357
Cash and cash equivalents 18 14,998 - - 14,998
Total financial assets 25,355 - - 25,355
Financi;]l lldbllitl(}s S S
Trage and other payables 19 - - {6,840) {6,840)
Finance iease liabilities 20 - - (9,614) (9,614)
Total financial liabilities - - (16,454) (16,454)

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates or other price risks, will affect the income from or the value
of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable

parameters while optimising the return on risk.
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249 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is primarily impacted by interest rate risk and other price risks which are outlined below:

1) Interest rate risk
Financial instruments affected by interest rate risk include short-term deposits. The Group is primarily sensitive ta changes in UK interest
rates. This affects future cash flows from short-term cash deposits held. As at 31 December 2015, the Group, excluding the joint venture,
does not hold any long-term leans. Previously, the Group has managed this risk, where significant, by holding long-term loans and entering
into interest rate swaps in order to fix the interest payable on these. These swaps have now all expired, The Group also manages the
interest rate risk through financing assets through finance leases which have fixed rates of interest, rather than through loans.

The foilowing table summarises the fixed and varizble rate loans:

Fixed
E'Q00
At 31 December 2076
Loans and other borrowings 9,242
AUBT Decomber 2015 - S
Loans and o-t-her borrowinés 9,614

2) Other price risks
The Group has 2 number of long-term contracts containing fixed indexation provisions. The Group generally seeks to price contracts at
levels that take account of increasing prices. As the volume of private patients is anticipated to increase, the Group will be increasingly
subject to pricing changes from private insurance companies.

The new Bedford MSK contract operates under a capped revenue budget. The underlying principle assumes that the service can be
run mere efficiently, improving the patient experience and reducing operational costs, Nevertheless, the Group bears the risk of rising
operational prices as the baseline revenue is fixed subject to local demographic or service portfolio changes.

Sredil sl
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Croup if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and cash deposits, with their maximum exposure being
represented by their carrying amount.

The Group has policies with customers that require upfront payment, where appropriate. Credit control procedures are designed to ensure
that invoiced revenue is collected according to agreed terms, that policies exist to limit exposure to any one party and ensure approved
credit limits are reviewed regularly. These all help to eliminate significant concentrations of credit risk.

Mast revenues arise from insured patients’ business and the NHS. Insured patients give rise to trade receivables which are mainly due from
targe insurance institutions, who have high credit worthiness. The remainder of revenues arise from individual self-pay patients.

When utilising bank accounts and cash deposits, the Group transacts with counterparties who have sound credit profiles. Such
counterparties are primarily large, highly rated finandial institutions. In relation to financial institutiens, the Group allocates a credit limit
based on external credit ratings. The counterparty’s total cutstanding transactions with the Group including bank accounts and cash
deposits must not exceed limits agreed by the Board of Directors.
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Sy ek
Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to
liquidity is to manage short and long-term borrowings to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damaging the Group's reputation.

This is achieved by robustly managing cash generation across its operations, by applying cash collection targets throughout the Group and
by managing liquidity risk via long-term debt and equity funding from shareholders.

The Croup has received strong support from its shareholders who have provided equity cash funding when necessary to fund the Group’s
activities. These funds have been utilised to support the business plans of the Group in accordance with the Group's financial projections
which are updated on a regular basis.

The table below analyses the Group's non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contract maturity date. The amounts included in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

Less than Between Between Between Belween Over §
1year 1-2 years 2-3years 3-d years 4-5 years years
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

At 31 December 20116

Trade and other payables {6,490} - - - - -
Finance Lease (2,983} (1178) (824) ) (797) (797) {9.159)
Net outflows (9,473) (1178) (824)  (797) (797) (9.159)
At 31 December 2015

Trade and other payables {6,840) - - - - -
Finance Lease (2,987) (2,635) (696) (389) (374) {9,323)
Net outflows o (9.827) (2635  (696) (389) (374)  (9,323)

Inctuded in the previous tables are the cash flows in respect of the Birmingham lease. There are various buy down options over the term of
the lease and management's intention has been reflected in the cash flows set out above.

FCapital risk management

The primary objective of the Group's management of debt and equity is to ensure the continued growth of the business, including the
financing of new hospitals, ecuipment and start-up costs, including Head Office cverheads, in order to provide returns for the Group
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Group raises financing when needed through a combination of equity and debt.

Objectives are set out at the beginning of each year, in line with the imposed requirements and covenants of the sharehclder agreements.
Covenants on the Circle Bath rental agreement with Medical Properties Trust ('MPT') are tested monthly. No long-term debt exists anywhere
in the Group.
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Details of the investments in which the Group holds 20.0% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital and quasi subsidiaries

are as follows:

MNane of company

Holding

Nature of butiress

Circle international plc

Health Properties Limited
Circie Health Limited

MNations Healthcare Limited
Circle Nottingham Limited
Circle Nottingham Lirrni[ed”
Circle Hospital (Bath) Limited
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited
Circle Clinical Solutions Limited
Circle Birmingham Limited
Health Properties

(South Manchester) Limited*

Circle Partnership Limited**

Trading transae tions

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
A’ Ordinary shares
'C' Preferred shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Holding

Holding

Holding and management
Holding and management
Holding and management
Medical practice services
Medical practice services
Medical practice services
Medical practice services
Property development

Property ownership
and development

Former employee
share ownership plan

Propartion

of voting Country of

rights eld  incarporation
100.0% United Kingdom
100.0% Jersey

100.0% United Kingdom
100.-0% United Kingdom
n/a United Kingdom
100.6% United Kingdom
100.0% United Kingdom
100.0% United Kingdom
100.0% United Kingdorm
100.0% Unitéd Kingdom
100.0% Jersey

100.0% British Virgin Islands

During the year, the Group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties. Transactions entered into
and trading balances outstanding are as follows:

Amounts owed

2016 2015
Amounts owed

Amounts owed Amounts owed

55

by relaled parly  torelated party by relaled party torelated parly
Note £'000 £000 £'000 £000
a -

n - -

1 - -
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Captta

a. During 2016 the Group was charged £47,000 (2015: £85,000) by Capita for fiduciary services provided to companies within the Group
during the year. The amount outstanding at 31 December 2016 was £11,000 (2015 £nil).

The Capita Group also provided IT data haosting services during 2015. The Group was charged £nil (2015: £514,000} for these services in
2016. The amount outstanding at 31 December 2016 was £nil (2015: £nil).

Flealth brust (ferey)
Health Trust (Jersey) also holds 2,340,765 warrants in the Company (note 22).

Following the completion of Project Reset on 4 December 2014, Health Trust {Jersey}'s shareholding in Circle Partnership Limited was
exchanged for 2,309,402 convertible shares in Circle Holdings plc. The previous agreement for Health Trust {Jersey) to own an amount equal
to an aggrepate 10% of the issued share capital of Circle Partnership has now extinguished.

The following are related parties by virtue of their significant shareholding. Notes 21 and 22 provide further details:

Nurnber of shares

held (including Value of warrants

convertible shares) % shareholding held £

Balderton Capital 16,756,534 7% 4,786
Lansdowne Partners 54,167,008 22% 1,262
Richard Criffiths 23,226,137 9% -
Toscafund 66,293,309 27% -
Circte Partnership Benefit Trust 60,299,295 24% -

Other than the above and the equity transactions detailed in notes 21 and 22, there have been no transactions with these related parties.

31 EVEMTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
In January 2017, the sale of land held by Health Properties {South Manchester) Limited was completed for £9.1m plus VAT, This land had a
carrying value of £7.6m at 31 December 2016.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members of Circle Holdings plc

Report on the Company's financial statements
Ouy opinion

In our opinion, Circle Holdings plc’s company financial statements
{the "financial statements”):

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as
at 31 December 2016;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Cenerally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991,

What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the Group financial
staternents (the "Annual Report”}, comprise:

the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in

the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 107 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

in applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have
made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect
of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
have made assumptions and considered future events.

Other matters on which we are required to
report by exception

Accounting records and information and

explanations received

Under the Comnpanies (Jersey} Law 1991, we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the
infarmation and explanations we require for our audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Qur respo

Under the Companies {Jersey) Law 1981 we are required to report to
you if, in gur opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report
arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements

and the audit

Qur responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Staternent of Directors' Respansibilities
set out on page 20, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinicn on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) ("ISAs (UK & Ireland}").
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Article
113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report

is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with 1SAs (UK & Ireland). An
audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

» whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed;

- the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by the directors; and

* the overall presentation of the financial statements.



We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’
judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements,
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing
techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a reasonable
basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through
testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a
combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information

in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent
with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements
of Circle Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December 2016.

i o

Simon O'Brien (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and

Recognised Auditors

London

A8 Mach 201/

TS 2016 69
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8,015

2016 2015
Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Investments 7 ) 5 o - -
Current -a-ssois -----
Cebtors - 6 9,620 2,919
Cash at bank and in hand ) %24 8,313”’
10._344 11,232
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 7 (3.097) (3.217)
Net current assets 7,247 8,015
Total assets rless current liabi(ﬁties 7247 8,015
Net assets 7,247 8,015
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 4,956 4,956
Share premium 8 236,795 236,795
Other reserves 8 1‘i,303 11,303
Warrant reserve 9,1 - 22,703 - 22,703
Share-based charges reserve 9,1 - 777”},288 4,535
Treasury share reserve 9 ) {(9,587) {(9,587)
Profi£ and loss account ) 9 (266,211) (262,690)-
Total shareholders’ funds - o 8015

10 7,247

The financial statements on pages 71 to 78 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ay

Paolo Pieri
Chief Executive Officer
< lhann R

Sl T e

Sarah Marston
Interim Chief Financial Officer
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2016

TACCOUNTING POLICIES

lasis o proparation

These financial statements are prepared
for Circle Holdings plc {the '‘Company’)

for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company is the ultimate parent

entity of the Circle Holdings plc Group
(the 'Group'). The financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 107, 'Reduced
Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101). These
financial statements are prepared under
the historical cost convention and in
accordance with the Companies Jersey Law
1991 and applicable accounting standards
in the United Kingdom.

The following exermptions from the
requirements of IFRS have been applied
in the preparation of these financial
statements:

- Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS
2, 'Share-based payment’ [details of the
number and weighted-average exercise
prices of share options, and how the fair
value of goods and services received was
determined)

- 1AS 7, 'Statement of cash flows' and
paragraph 10(d) of 1AS 1 (statement of
cash flows)

- The requirement in IAS 24, ‘Related party
disclosures ' to disclose related party
transactions entered into between two
or more members of a group.

The principal accounting palicies, which
have been applied consistently for both
years presented, are set out below.

Accounting convenlion

These financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies {Jersey)
Law 19917 and applicable UK accounting
standards. The Company has not prepared
a separate income statement and cash flow
staternent as it is net a requirement under
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991,

Going concern

The Directors' consider it Lo be appropriate
for the Company financial statements

to be prepared on a Geing Concern basis
based on the assumptions considered in the
Directors' report on page 8.

nvestments

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at
cost less provision for impairment. The
carrying value of fixed assef investments
is reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Deferred Lax

Deferred tax is provided in full {without
discounting) based on current tax rates and
law, on timing differences that result in an
obligation at the balance sheet date to pay
more tax, or a right to pay less tax in the
future except as otherwise required by

FRS 101

Warrants

Awarrant is an instrument issued by a
company which gives the holder the right
to purchase shares in that company at a
specific price at a future date. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences
a resigual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A
warrant is treated s a financiat liability if:

« itis a non-derivative and the entity is
obliged to deliver a variable number of
the company’s own shares; or

- it is a derivative that will be settled
other than by a fixed amount of cash or
other assets for a fixed number of the
company’s own shares,

Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and equity components of the
shares based on the allocation of proceeds
to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.

Lquity warrants

The proceeds on issue of equity warrants
are included within shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs. The fair value of
the equity component is not remeasured in
subsequent years. The fair value of warrants
is credited to equity with the debit being
charged to the profit and loss account or
taken to nen-current liabilities where the
warrants are linked tc a loan.

Equity warrants are valued using an
appropriate valuation methodology on a
diluted pricing basis, based on the relevant
share price at the time of issue or based on
an assessment of the market price at the
time of issue.

Capilal contributions

Share-based incentive schemes for
employees are operated by subsidiary
undertakings that are settled by equity
instruments in the Company. The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted
and is recognised over the vesting period,
which ends on the date on which relevant
employees becorne fully entitled to the
warrants in the Company.

The grant of these warrants in the
Company to the employee of the subsidiary
undertaking is treated as a capital
contrsibution. The fair value is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to the
investment in subsidiary undertaking, with
a corresponding credit to equity.

2 PROFIT AND LOSS

The result for the year is a loss of
£3,521,000 (2015; loss of £107,568,000).
During 2015, the Cormpany provided for
a number of intercompany loans. These
intercompany loans are to be written off
as in accordance with the objectives of
Project Reset.



3 OPERATING COSTS
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The Company incurred £29,000 (2015: £29,000} in relation to UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2016.

4 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

During the year £280,000 (2015: £280,000) was paid by the Company to Directors of the Company which includes amounts received in
respect of share-based charges. Remuneration was paid to other Directors via subsidiary companies, total details of which are included in the

Directors’ Remuneration report.

73

5 IMVESTMENTS
Campany
2016 2015
Note £'000 £'000
Cost
At 7 January 82,446 178,029
Capital reduction on preference shares in Circle (Welbeck} Limited - 97,791
Additions - capital contributions 12 2,831 2,208
At 31 December 85,277 87,446
Provision for impairment
At 1 January 82,446 178,029
Provision in the year 2,831 2,208
Capital reduction on preference shares in Circle (Welbeck) Limited - (97.791%)
At 31 December o } __-85-,277 872,446

Net book amount at 31 December

The Directors consider that the value of the company’s fixed asset investments, which are listed below, is supported by their underlying assets:

Proportion

of voling Country of
Mame of company Holding Nature of business nghts held incorporation
Circle International Plc Ordinary shares Holding and management 100.0% United Kingdom
Health Properties Limited Ordinary shares Holding and managermnent 100.0% Jersey
Circle (Welbeck) Limited Preference share Finance company n/a United Kingdom
Circle Partnership Limited Ordinary shares Sub-holding cempany 100% British Virgin Islands
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Continued

5 DEBTORS

2015
£0Q0

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

Amounts owed by Group undertakings

20
1
2,888
2,919

Amounts owed by Croup undertakings are a cormbination of interest-bearing and interest-free amounts, unsecured and receivable on demand.

TCREDITORS - AMCUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONEYEAR

2015
£'000

Trade creditors
Amounts owed Lo Group undertakings

Accruals and deferred income

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand.

2 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised

59

2,639

518

3.217

2015
£'000

Ordinary shares of £0.02 each
Cornvertible shares (18 months) of £0.07 each

Convertible shares (36 months) of £0.02 each

7,000

6,500

250
250

2015

Number

Ordinary shares of £0.02 each
Convertible shares (18 months) of £0.02 each
Convertible shares (36 months) of £0.02 each

325,000,000
12,500,000
12,500,000

350,000,000



8 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL

Alletied and fully paid up

LT B B T e Y A B PR T F IR N B [ A

Called up Share Other

Shares share capital premium reserves Tolal
{humber) E'000 E'000 E'000 £'000

Ordinary shares
A1 January 2015 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 11,303 241,623
Al 31 December 2015 247,797,188 4,956 236,795 11,303 241,623
At 31 December 2016 247,797,188 4,556 236,795 1,303 241,623
9 RESERVES Share Warrant Other Treasury Share based Profit and loss
premium reserve reserve share reserve charges reserve account
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
At January 2016 236,795 22,703 11,303 (9.587) 4,535 262,690
Loss for the tinancial year - - - - - (3,521)
Issue of shares eptions - - - - 2,753 -
At 31 December 2016 236,795 22,703 11,303 (9,587) 7,288 (266,211)

During 2015, £2,693,000 was the IFRS 2 share based payment charge for share options issued to Circle employees and partners. This charge has
been passed onto the subsidiary company in which the services are being provided, namely Circte Health Limited, by way of capital contribution,

10 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

2016 2015

Note £000 £000

Loss for the financial year (3,521) {107,568}
Issue of share options 12 N “2-,753 2,693
Net addition to shareholders’ funds N &68) {104,875)
Opening shareholders’ funds - B 8,015 112,;9—(_)"
Closing shareholders’ fun-d-s 7,247 8,015

TI WARRANTS

The Company issues warrants which give the holders the right to purchase shares for a specific price at a future date. The warrants are
treated either as equity instruments and recorded in the warrant reserve, or as financial liabilities and recorded in liabilities, depending
on certain criteria, as outlined in the Company’s accounting policies. There are no remaining warrants issued as financial liabilities.

Warrants treated as equity instruments

Movements in the warrant reserve during the year are as follows:

At 1 January and 31 December

75
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TTWARRANTS

The following table details all share warrants issued by the Company which are recognised in equity, none of which have been

exercised to date:

Original
Revised warcants, At Al
exercise restated for Revised 1)anuary Share based 31 December
price  five-for-one split Modified wartanls 2016 charges 2016
Nole £ {rumber) {number} {number} £000 £'000 £'000
Beneficiary
Wairants issued in 2008
Balderton Capitat b £1.52 523,460 - 523,460 4111 - 4111
Lansdowne Partners b £152 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
JCAM £10.31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1,616
Warrants issued in 2009
Balderton Capital b £1.52 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
Lansdowne Partners b £152 172,355 - 172,355 479 - 479
BlueCrest Capital Management b £1.52 75,510 - 75,510 296 - - 296
Warrants modified in 2011
Health Trust (Jersey) a  £1.52 - 2,340,765 2,346,765- 14,743 - 14,743
- 1282240 2340765 3623005 22,703 . 22703

a. The cancellation of the warrants issued to Health Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust {Jersey) - optien pool and re-issue of warrants to Health
Trust {Jersey) are detailed in note 23 of the consatidated financial statements.

b. In May 2011 after Initial Public Offering ('IPO’) the existing share warrants, which consisted of warrants issued in 2008 and 2009 to
Health Trust (Jersey} and Mealth Trust (jersey) option pool were modified adjusting both the exercise price and vesting conditicns, Under
the terms of the modification the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants issued exclusively to Health Trust (Jersey) and the
exercise price was set 1o the IPO price of £1.52 per new ordinary share issued. The modified share warrants do not have any expiry date or
any conditions attached. A fair value assessment was completed based on the value of the existing warrants prior to IPO and the fair value
of the modified warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis using the parameters outlined on the next page. The
incrernental fair value of the maodification was recognised on a straight-line basis over a 24 month period from May 2011 until May 2013, in
line with the revised vesting timetable (1/24 every month from May 2071).
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12 CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Shares and share warrants are issued te employees and clinicians and external investors whe contribute to the success and growth in value
of the Group. The issuance of these warrants and shares, including the issue of shares to scheme participants and employees, qualifies as
equity-settled share-based payment transactions and falls within the scope of IFRS 2 'Share-based payment’. The impact on the income
statement in respect of share-based charges is as follows. Note there is no charge associated with the transaction where the employees
subscribe for the shares at full market value:

2016 2015

Note £'000 £000

Other share-based charges a 2,753 2,693
2,753 2,693

a. Other share based charges
During 2015, £2,753,000 (2016: £2,693,000) was the IFRS 2 share based payment charge for share options issued to Circle employees and
partners. This charge has been passed onto the subsidiary company in which the services are being provided, namely Circle Health Limited,
by way of capital contribution.

“tod e veanant e penameter (soflecting five o one share split)

Stock price £1.52
Exercise price £1.52
Expected volatility™ 50.0%
Risk free interest rate - - 5.0%
Warrant life®* 10 years

Fair value of warrant £1.02

v

The historical volatility is assumed to be indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcoma

** The life of the warrant is based on the expected term and is not necessarily indicative ol exarcise patlerns that may eceur



Continued

13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties.

Fallowing the group's reorganisation, transactions with some group companies which are now 100% owned by the Company are
eligible for exernption from disclosure under [AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and have accordingly been removed from the list
of related party transactions.

2016 2015

Amounts owed Amounts owed Amounts owed Amounts owed
Note by related party  to related party by relaled party te related party

Capita a - 1

a. Capita
During 2016 the Group was charged £47,000 {2015: £85,000) by Capita for fiduciary services provided to companies within the Greup
during the year. The amount outstanding at 31 December 2016 was £11,000 (2015: £nil).

The following are related parties by virtue of their significant shareholding. The Group financial statements provide more details.

Value of

Number of warrants

shares held Shareholding held £

Balderton Capital 16,756,534 % 4,786

Lansdowne Partners 54,167,008 22% 1,262
Richard Griffiths 23,226,137 9%
Toscafund 66,293,309 27%
Circle Partnership Benefit Trust 60,299,295 24%

Other than the above and the equity transactions detailed in notes 11 and 12, there have been no transactions with these related parties.

14 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There are no post balance sheet date events to report.
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